
 

Democratic Service 
Swyddfa’r Cyngor 

CAERNARFON 
Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 

 

 

 

www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 
 

  
 

Meeting 
 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 
 
 

 

 
Date and Time 

 
10.30 am, TUESDAY, 4TH JULY, 2017 

 

 
 

 
Location 

 
Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd. LL55 1SH 

 
 

 

 

Contact Point 

Eirian Roberts 

01286 679018 

eirianroberts3@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

(DISTRIBUTED 27/06/17) 

Complete Agenda

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/


 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP (15) 
 
 

Plaid Cymru (8) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Edwards Alan Jones Evans 
Aled Ll. Evans Judith Mary Humphreys 

Charles Wyn Jones Elin Walker Jones 
Olaf Cai Larsen Elfed Williams 

 
 

Independent (5) 
 

Councillors 
 

Elwyn Jones Eric M. Jones 
Kevin Morris Jones John Pughe Roberts 

Eirwyn Williams  

 
 

Llais Gwynedd (1) 
 

Councillor 
 

Alwyn Gruffydd 
 
 

Individual Member (1) 
 

[vacant seat] 
  
 
 

Aelodau Ex-officio / Ex-officio Members 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council 

 
 

Other Invited Member 
 

Councillor Mair Rowlands, Cabinet Member - The Welsh Language 
 

 



 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
 

 

 To elect a Chairman for 2017/18. 

 
 

2.   ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 
 

 

 To elect a Vice-chairman for 2017/18. 

 
 

3.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
 

4.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declaration of personal interest 

 
 

5.   URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To note any items that are a matter of urgency in the view of the Chairman 
for consideration 

 

 

6.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 9 

 The Chairman shall propose that the minutes of the previous meeting of this 
committee held on 28th February, 2017 be signed as a true record  
(attached) 

 

 

7.   REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER - THE WELSH LANGUAGE 
 

 

 To submit the verbal report of the Cabinet Member – The Welsh Language. 

 
 

8.   THE LANGUAGE COMMITTEE'S REMIT 
 

10 

 To submit, for information, the relevant section of the Council’s Constitution  
(attached). 

 

 

9.   THE CORPORATE COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE 
 

11 - 13 

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer  (attached). 

 
 

10.   GWYNEDD COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT ON THE 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS 
 

14 - 42 

 To consider the report of the Deputy Leader  (attached). 

 
 

11.   ACHIEVING THE AMBITION - INQUIRY INTO THE WELSH 
GOVERNMENT'S NEW WELSH LANGUAGE STRATEGY 
 

43 - 115 

 To consider the report of the Deputy Leader  (attached).  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 



LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 

 

 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 
 

 
Present:  Councillor Eirwyn Williams (Chairman) 
  Councillor Charles Jones (Vice-chairman)  
 
Councillors:   Elwyn Edwards, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Alwyn Gruffydd, Eric M. Jones, Elfed 
Williams and Hefin Williams.  
 
Also in attendance:  Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn (Cabinet Member - Welsh Language). 
Corporate Support Debbie Anne Jones (Welsh Language Manager), Gwenllian Williams 
(Language Development Officer), Garem Jackson (Area Education Officer), Bethan Eleri Roberts 
(Performance Management Officer), Carys Lake (Leader of Ysgol Eifionydd Language Centre, 
Porthmadog) and Ann Roberts (Member Support Officer). 
 
Apologies:  Councillors Craig ab Iago, Thomas G. Ellis, Alan Jones Evans, Gareth Thomas and 
John Wyn Williams.  
 
1. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 
 
 No declarations of personal interest were received from any members present. 
 
2. MINUTES 

 
The Chair signed the minutes of the previous meetings of this committee, held on 13 
October and 22 November 2016, as a true record. 
 

3. REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER - THE WELSH LANGUAGE 
 

Submitted – the verbal report of the Cabinet Member - the Welsh Language, detailing 
recent developments in the field, including:- 

 

 A useful and constructive meeting had been held with Alun Davies AC to discuss the 
Council's Hunaniaith arrangements and the intention to develop relevant schemes 
for Gwynedd.   It was acknowledged that Gwynedd's situation was very different.  

 It was intended to hold a seminar in May/June in Gwynedd that would offer support 
to communities to promote the use of the Welsh language in their areas.  

 The second meeting of the Hunaniaith Board had been held with the Language 
Officers of other public bodies to discuss how they could contribute to our strategy.    
The Board was expected to adopt the new Welfare Plan and to make a commitment 
to the Welsh language.  

 The various local activities to promote Welsh across the county included activities in 
Bangor and the good work of Y Popty.  

 Language Charter work - a working group was holding meetings to discuss the 
progress of the work at Secondary Schools. 

 
In response to a comment that discussions were taking place in English at meetings held 
outside the Council, it was reported that there was a project in the pipeline with public 
services to try to get the services to normalise the Welsh language by committing to the first 
contact always being in Welsh.  

 
RESOLVED to note the content of the report. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 

 
4. PRESENTATION ON THE MAIN OBJECTIVES OF THE SECONDARY SECTOR 

LANGUAGE STRATEGY (DRAFT) 
 
The Area Education Officer provided the background.   It was noted that Primary School 
children had been part of the Language Charter for three years and the intention was to 
build upon this.  The work of creating a strategy by 31 March 2017 was ongoing, and the 
strategy was to be implemented from 1 April 2017 onwards.  
 
Carys Lake, Leader of the Ysgol Eifionydd Language Centre, was welcomed to the meeting 
and it was explained that she had been working on a commission to create the strategy 
jointly with the Education Department.   
 
The Leader of the Ysgol Eifionydd Language Centre presented the main objectives of the 
Secondary Language Strategy (draft) and provided the local context to the work: 
 

• Trywydd Report  
• Welsh-Medium Education Scrutiny Investigation Report 
• Alun Charles Report 
• Strategic Plan – Welsh in Education 
• Gwynedd Language Strategy 2014-2017 
• The Council’s Strategic Plan  

 
It was noted that all of the abovementioned reports stated that there was a need to ensure 
progression of the work with the Welsh language from the Primary to the Secondary. 
 
In terms of the national context and to meet the “Million Welsh Speakers by 2050" target 
and ensure that the Welsh language thrives there was a need to get all stakeholders 
involved in the plan e.g. all the staff.  
 
The aim of the Secondary Language Strategy was to promote social use of Welsh among 
children and young people and to develop it as an effective medium for all aspects of  
school life.  It was noted that there were two elements to this aim, namely the curriculum 
and social.  Experiences in lessons influenced the social element.  
 
The next step would be to give a presentation to a working group of representatives from 
amongst Headteachers who had met twice to discuss the draft aims.   The following eight 
aims were agreed upon: 
 

i. Leadership and expectations 
ii. Ethos 
iii. The voice and ownership of young people 
iv. Training requirements 
v. The role of the Language Department and the School (guidance from the Language 

Department and getting young people to study subjects through the medium of 
Welsh) 

vi. Curricular experiences 
vii. Bridge learners (turn learners into Welsh-speakers to enable them to learn through 

Welsh) 
viii. The School and the Community (link the school with businesses and the community)  
 
It was reported that it was intended to use the above eight aims to set criteria to monitor 
paths of progression.   The criteria would ask for evidence to prove achievement.  It was 
reported that work was ongoing in setting the criteria and the evidence required and it was 
acknowledged that there was a need to be ambitious.    
 

Page 6



LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 

It was noted that Gwynedd Council led in this field and that the rest of Wales looked at what 
was happening here in Gwynedd for guidance on the way forward.   Additionally, it was 
noted that Council Officers met regularly with Welsh Government to discuss the way 
forward.   
 
A member observed that the schools were not familiar or were not able to identify the 
problem why children and young people spoke English outside school.   In response, it was 
reported that there was a need to work with young people to spread the message socially.  
An observation was made that Sports Clubs were a crucial part of the answer to getting 
children and young people to use the Welsh Language socially.  It was noted that social 
media was a challenge and that the Welsh language had to be made relevant to the work 
and lives of children and young people.  
 
A member reported that there was a need for every school to adopt an action plan.   
 
The Leader of the Ysgol Eifionydd Language Centre was thanked for the presentation and 
the work. 
 
RESOLVED to note the contents of the presentation and to incorporate the additional 
observations.  

 
5.  LANGUAGE INVESTIGATION - THE VISIBILITY OF THE WELSH LANGUAGE IN 

GWYNEDD  
 
 Submitted - a report by the Strategic Planning Manager, Performance and Projects on 

behalf of the Chair of the Investigation as he was unable to attend the meeting.  
 
 It was explained that members of the investigation had concentrated on what the Council 

was able to do and improve in terms of the visibility of the Welsh language in Gwynedd e.g. 
procurement, and the Council's culture and ethos.   The following fields were investigated: 

 

 The Council's management of its own property and lands 

 The Council’s procurement arrangements 

 Grant conditions and support the Council allocates 

 The degree of influence the Council had on signs placed on roadsides 

 House and place names 
 
 A report was given on the support and the evidence received from Dr Rhian Hodges and Dr 

Cynog Prys, University of Wales, Bangor and Durk Gorter, a Research Professor and an 
expert on the linguistic landscape field from Ikerbasque.net, namely an organisation based 
in the Basque country.  

 
 The main point was noted, namely that there was a need to be proactive and not take 

matters for granted.  The Council should normalise the use of the Welsh language first, it 
should be pro-active and promote the Welsh language and be ambitious and push the 
boundaries.   

 
 Draft recommendations were submitted to the Cabinet Member and it was suggested that 

there was an opportunity to share good practice with others and to consider attracting 
income at the same time.    

 
It was reported that there were obvious matters within the recommendations that could be 
linked in with Language Audit plans.  

 
 The Cabinet Member for the Welsh Language reported that he did not anticipate any 

obstacles to implementing the recommendations and that work had commenced to improve 

Page 7



LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 

the visibility of the Welsh language by erecting Welsh language signs in the Council's 
reception areas.  

 
The Cabinet Member for the Welsh Language expressed his gratitude for the work 
undertaken by the members and the officers. 

 
RESOLVED to accept the recommendations of the investigation and to submit them 
formally to the Cabinet Member. 

 
6. IMPLEMENTING THE WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS 
 
 Submitted by the Welsh Language Services Manager - a draft summary of Gwynedd 

Council's proposed response to the statement of the Minister for Lifelong Learning and 
Welsh Language 'Preparing for the Welsh Language Bill - Application for evidence'   

 
It was explained that the First Minister and the Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh 
Language had announced their intention to consider amending the Welsh Language Bill 
2011 as five years had passed since it was first enshrined.  The intention was to introduce 
amendments to the Bill in order to achieve the ambition of a million Welsh speakers by 
2050. 

 
 It was reported that the Minister had asked three questions in his statement.   It was 

reported that the Language Standards sought to bring consistency across Wales, however 
the standards were onerous and open to interpretation. 

 
 The Council's proposed responses were presented to the committee and members were 

asked for their observations.   
 
 The Committee was grateful for the comprehensive report and it was observed that the 

standards were acceptable as they were but they were not relevant to Gwynedd Council.   It 
was asked if the Government had a timetable and whether it was intended to extend the bill 
to banks, electricity companies, water etc.   It was noted that there was a need for the 
Standards.  An observation was made that the Language Board had an expertise in the 
field and offered support, however this had all been lost with the emergence of the 
Commissioner's Office.  

 
The Welsh Language Services Manager was thanked for the report and the member's 
important point that there was a need to press for the expertise the Language Board 
possessed was noted.   

 
  RESOLVED to approve the contents of the report. 

 
7.      LANGUAGE AUDIT 
 

Submitted - the report of the Language Development Officer summarising the findings of 
the Language Audit and offering further action steps.  
 
The members were updated on the developments in the four departments in question.   It 
was reported that it was intended to try to get the Departments to take responsibility for the 
action plans.     
 
It was noted that  
 

 action plans were in place for the Consultancy Department and the Adults, Health 
and Well-being Department and there was a need to agree on the timetable.  

Page 8



LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 28/02/17 

 a draft action plan had been planned with the Economy and Community Department 
and it had been decided to hold back until the findings of the Language Investigation 
were known.  Nevertheless, it was noted that the Tourism Service was working on 
improving the relationship with events organisers to seek to influence events held in 
the County.   Additionally, it was noted that specific attention had been given to the 
Leisure Service by re-establishing Welsh language improvement lessons among the 
staff.  

 work with the Regulatory Department would begin soon. 

 the Language Officer sought to ensure the Department's ownership of the action 
plans.  

 communication plan setting out guidelines on how to encourage staff to be more 
proactive and to promote speaking Welsh at all times. 

 more staff had been asking for the Welsh lanyards recently and staff had been 
asking for support to create signs. 

 

Following a member's comment that a number of non-Welsh speaking staff worked at the 
Recycling Centre, it was agreed that the matter would be looked into.  

 
RESOLVED to note the content of the report. 

 
8.      LANGUAGE COMPLAINTS 
 

Submitted – the report of the Welsh Language Development Officer detailing the three 
latest language complaints to hand and the responses. 
 
Following a discussion about the street signs, it was reported that the policies would be 
considered and a report would be submitted to the Welsh Language Committee during the 
next political year. 
 
RESOLVED to note the content of the report. 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.05 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 9



Page 10

Agenda Item 8



Committee : The Language Committee 

Date: 4 July 2017 

Title : The Corporate Complaints Procedure 

Author: Monitoring Officer 

Purpose:    To present information relating to the complaints 
procedure and the arrangements for reporting to 
the Language Committee 

 
Background 
 
1. Since 1 April 2015, the Council has been operating a Corporate Complaints 
Policy that follows the Model Concerns and Complaints Policy, and the Guidance 
published by the Welsh Government, and formulated under the supervision of the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
 
2. This is the procedure used to deal with complaints about all the Council’s services, 
apart from complaints by social services users and relating to schools, where there 
are different, specific procedures.  Complaints against the Council’s services about 
their use of the Welsh Language therefore fall within the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure. 
 
3. The procedure has two main functions:  
 
(1) to resolve individual complaints and put right any injustices  
 
(2) to ensure that lessons are learnt from complaints so as to improve the services 
provided to the people of Gwynedd 
 
The Procedure 
 
4. In summary, complaints are dealt with in two ways: 
 
Informal Resolution   
 
This stage offers an opportunity to resolve the complaint informally at the point of 
delivery the matter arises or very shortly afterwards 
 
Formal Investigation 
 
If the complainant is not satisfied he/she can refer the complaint for a formal 
investigation.  This will usually be carried out by an officer from the service involved, 
with sufficient seniority and independence from the source of the complaint.  This will 
be the authority’s final response to the complaint 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



The Ombudsman and the Welsh Language Commissioner 
 
5. If the complainant remains dissatisfied he/she can refer the matter to the 
Ombudsman, who investigates allegations of maladministration. 
 
6. Furthermore, it is possible to complain to the Welsh Language Commissioner: 
 

 about an organisation’s failure to comply with a standard 

 about an organisation’s failure to implement its Welsh language scheme 

 if the complainant feels that someone has interfered with his/her freedom to 

use the Welsh language 

 
7. The two bodies will consult each other in cases where there is an overlap in their 
terms of reference, and agree the most appropriate way to investigate a complaint. 
 
The Role of Elected Members  
 
8. There is no role for members to investigate individual complaints.  If an elector 

contacts a member with a complaint he/she can put him/her in contact with the 

relevant service, which will then proceed to deal with the matter. There is no role for 

members to investigate individual complaints, but you can ask to be updated and 

informed of the outcome. 

 
9. Members also have, of course, the right to raise issues that are of concern to them 
directly with council departments. The Complaints Procedure does not change that 
situation at all. 
 
The Service Improvements and Complaints Team  
 
10. When the current procedure was adopted the Service Improvements and 
Complaints Team was established to support it.  The team consists of the 
Organisational Development Manager and the Service Improvement Officer 
(Corporate Support Department) and the Monitoring Officer and the Senior Solicitor 
(Corporate).  
 
 
11. In addition to ensuring the proper operation of the Complaints Procedure, the 
team was established to make the most of the data and information gathered from 
complaints so as to improve the Council’s services and to establish the appropriate 
culture across the authority. The team has a number of responsibilities in doing this: 

 offering guidance and advice to departments on how to deal with individual 
complaints.  

 introducing appropriate interventions in order to establish the desired culture 

 encouraging  improvement on the basis of complaints or trends 

 identifying  areas for general improvement 

 presenting relevant opportunities for improvement 

 reviewing the Council’s Complaints Procedure 

Page 12



 raising the awareness of the procedure amongst the public and within the 
Council 

 reporting on the procedure’s performance 
 
12. To assist the council in learning from complaints a procedure has been 
established where members of the Team will discuss complaints with the service 
where an opportunity to improve procedures has been identified.  This can also lead 
to creating a service improvement plan. 
 
Reports 
 
13. The Team reports on a quarterly basis to the Cabinet Member and the 
Leadership Team and to the Cabinet annually. 
 
14. The purpose of these reports is not only to report on the performance of the 
complaints procedure (numbers, response times etc.) but also on any patterns 
identified and how dealing with complaints has led to permanent improvements to 
the services that the people of Gwynedd receive. 
 
 
The Role of the Language Committee 
 
15. The Language Committee does not have a formal role within the Complaints 
Procedure.  Historically, however, it has received information about language 
complaints, as part of its function of overseeing the operation of the Council’s 
Language Policy.   
 
16. It is believed that the arrangements for reporting to this Committee should be 
updated so that it complies with the Committee’s functions and the provisions of the 
Complaints Procedure, and takes advantage of the regime now established to 
identify lessons from complaints and opportunities to improve services. 
 
17. It is therefore intended to report on: 
 

 The number and types of language complaints received. 
 

 Any patterns identified from those complaints. 
 

 Any service improvement plans created in response to complaints. 
 
Any investigations by the Language Commissioner and any relevant reports by the 
Ombudsman will also be reported. 
 
18. We would also welcome any suggestions from the Committee as to the type of 
information that it believes would be useful in carrying out its work. 
 
Recommendations 
 
19. The Committee is asked to: 
 

Page 13



Note the above arrangements 
 
Suggest any information that it believes would be of benefit to it in relation to 
language complaints. 

Page 14



MEETING: LANGUAGE COMMITTEE  

DATE: 4 JULY 2017 

TITLE: Gwynedd Council Annual Report on the implementation of 

Welsh Language Standards  

AUTHOR: MAIR ROWLANDS 

DEPUTY LEADER 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT Present the Annual Report to the Members 

 

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1  The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 was passed by the National Assembly for Wales and 

was given royal assent in February 2011. The Measure made a number of significant changes 

regarding the accountability and responsibilities of public organisations in Wales. The Measure:  

  gives the Welsh Language official status in Wales which means that Welsh should be 
treated no less favourably than the English language in Wales 

 establishes the role of the Welsh Language Commissioner to promote the Welsh 
language, and improving the opportunities people have to use it. 

 creates a procedure for introducing duties in the form of language standards that 
explain how organisations are expected to use the Welsh language. 

  establishes  the Welsh Language tribunal to listen to cases on the Commissioner’s 
decisions regarding the Welsh Language standards..  

 abolishes the Welsh Language Board  

1.2  In accordance with the procedure imposed by Section 44 of The Welsh language (Wales) 

Measure 2011, a Compliance Notice was received, which included all of the standards Gwynedd 

Council are expected to comply with by 30 September 2015.  

1.3  There were 151 standards in the Compliance Notice, all of which were categorised into five 

areas:  

1. Service Delivery 

2. Policy Making  

3.  Operational  

4. Record Keeping  

5. Promotion  

1.4  All of the Standards came into force on 30 March 2016, except for the 4 standards relating to 

promotion, which were operational from 30 March 2017.  

Page 14

Agenda Item 10



1.5 Following the Council’s historical commitment to the Welsh Language, the Council was already 

conforming to a significant number of standards imposed upon it through the implementation of 

its Language Plan, indeed, this Plan went further than the Welsh Language Standards in many 

areas. 

1.6  It was deemed that the Council should not weaken its current commitment to the Welsh 

language by solely conforming to the Welsh Language Standards, therefore a new Language 

Policy was developed. This Policy has been operational since April 2016. 

1.7 As part of the Standards, the Council must create and publish an annual report by 30 June 

following the financial year to which the report relates. Therefore attached is Gwynedd Council’s 

Annual Report on the implementation of Welsh Language Standards for the period 2015/16. 

2. RECCOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 Members are asked to: 

 Discuss and accept the content of the Annual Report 

Page 15



REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS 2016/17 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

 

Page 16



FOREWORD 

It is my pleasure to introduce Gwynedd Council’s  annual report on the implementation of the Welsh 

Language Standards for the year just passed.  

As an authority that serves a population where 65.4% have the ability to speak Welsh, the Council 

takes it’s responsibility to protect and promote the Welsh language very seriously, and have shown a 

clear commitment to the language over many years.  

We are in a fortunate  position, due to our strong and progressive language plan in the past, and a 

recruitment policy that has ensured that so many of our staff are able to speak Welsh, in that we are 

able to provide services in both Welsh and English, almost completely naturally.  At the same time, 

we are not blind to the challenges that face the Welsh language, and especially so that peoples’ 

habits and confidence in regards to language use are changing constantly. This is just as true for 

Council staff as it is for the public that use the services.  We are not, therefore going to rest on our 

laurels, but rather work to improve all the time and to always look for opportunities to develop.  

The culture being promoted within the Council at the moment, and is a part of the Chief Executive’s 

vision for the future of the Council, is one where unnecessary processes and bureaucracy are 

simplified in favour of what gives the best value and what put’s the needs of the population first.  By 

following he principal of putting the people of Gwynedd at the heart of everything we do, we are 

always looking for new ways to work and provide services.  With regards to providing services in 

Welsh, and our commitment to the Welsh Language Standards, the biggest challenge is how we 

ensure compliance with the standards without the need to record and create systems working 

against our efforts and aspiration to normalise the use of the Welsh language and offering bilingual 

services in a proactive manner.  

 

Cynghorydd Mair Rowlands 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member with responsibility for the Welsh Language 

 

Page 17



INTRODUCTION 

Gwynedd Council has adopted the principle that both Welsh and English languages are treated 

equally, giving both languages the same status and validity, with the aim of ensuring that all the 

county's residents can use the Council's services through the medium of Welsh and English.    

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 establishes a legal framework that places a duty on the 

Council to comply with the standards in relationship to the Welsh language.   A standard explains 

how organisations are expected to use the language in different situations.    

The duties that derive from the standards mean that the Council should not treat the Welsh 

language less favourably than the English language in Wales, and the Council should promote and 

facilitate the use of the Welsh language (namely making it easier for people to use it in their 

everyday lives).   

The purpose of the standards are: 

 to make it clear to organisations what their duties are regarding the Welsh language 

 to make it clearer to Welsh speakers what services they can expect to receive in Welsh 

 ensure more consistency in terms of Welsh language services and improve their quality 

The Measure notes that Welsh Ministers can specify standards in the following areas: 

 service delivery 

 policy making 

 operational 

 promotion 

 record keeping 

This Council received a compliance notice from The Welsh Language Commissioner under Section 4 

of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, on 30 September 2015.  This notice specified the 

precise standards the Council is required to comply with and on 30 March 2016 a 147 standards 

came into effect, with four further standards coming into effect on 30 March 2017.      

As a result of the Council's historical commitment to the Welsh language, it had already been 

complying with a significant number of the standards set through the implementation of its 

Language Plan and indeed, this plan went further than the Welsh language standards in several 

areas.    

It was considered that the Council's current commitment to the Welsh language should not be 

weakened by limiting its commitment to simply complying with the Welsh language standards only, 

and consequently a new Language Policy was developed.   

This Language Policy is a combination of the previous Language Plan, the Welsh language Standards 

that the Council has a duty to comply with, together with the Council’s commitment to promoting 

and facilitating the Welsh language. This Language Policy was adopted by the Full Council on 3 

March 2016, and came into effect on 1 April 2016.  

Page 18



This has been approved by the Council's Deputy Leader (with a responsibility for the Welsh 

language).  In addition, the report was submitted to the Council's Language Committee on 4 July 

2017, in accordance with the fact that the Committee's specific functions are as follows:   

 supervise the implementation of Language Plan 11 Gwynedd Council   

 

 Specify the strategic direction and compliance in response to the Language Standards set by 

the Welsh language Commissioner giving due attention to the Council's work and any 

partnership work or collaboration.  

 

 Receive information on matters dealing with the Welsh language as required 

 

 Act as a consultative body on strategies promoting the Welsh language within the county by 

making recommendations to the Cabinet as required. 

 

This report will be published on the Council's website, and will be available in each of Siopau 

Gwynedd at Caernarfon, Pwllheli and Dolgellau.  

 

                                                           

1
 Language Policy 

Page 19



SERVICE DELIVERY STANDARDS  

Gwynedd Council has a duty to comply with 70 service delivery standards and six additional service 

delivery standards.   As a result of the Council’s historical commitment to the Welsh language, it was 

already operating in accordance with or going beyond the requirements of many of these standards 

when they were imposed on the Council by the Welsh language Commissioner.  

 

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE STANDARD ACTION 

1+4+5+6+30+31+72+72A+75+ 

77A+80 

 

Service Delivery Standards 

regarding correspondence and 

invitations  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

8+9+10+12+13+ 

15+16+17+18+20+22 

Service Delivery Standards 

regarding the telephone   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

7+14+21+30+32 Service Delivery Standards that 

involve asking about language 

choice and declaring that we 

welcome 

correspondence/contact in 

Welsh   

As a result of the Language 

Policy and the Council's 

historical commitment to the 

Welsh language, the use of 

Welsh has been normalised and 

there is high awareness 

amongst the public that they 

can access services and 

correspond with the Council in 

Welsh.   Consequently, there is 

no need for the Council to state 

or ask a person if they wish to 

use the Welsh language, as this 

occurs naturally.  

23+25+27A+27CH+28+33+73+ 

78+ 

Service Delivery Standards 

dealing with holding meetings 

and interviews  

Gwynedd Council already 

operatings in accordance with 

these Standards.  

34+37+38+69+70+76+77+81 

+82+87 

Service Delivery Standards 

dealing with display, publicity, 

promotion and advertising 

materials and publications  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

35+36 Service Delivery Standards 

regarding public events   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.   

 

Developmental work has also 

been undertaken in this field.   

40+48+49+50+50A+50B+51+71 Service Delivery Standards 

dealing with documents and 

forms  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

Page 20



52+55+56+57+58+59+60 Service Delivery Standards 

dealing with the website, apps, 

social media and self-service 

machines  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

However, Gwynedd Council 

faces some barriers beyond its 

control in the context of apps 

as the companies have not 

planned and developed apps in 

a way that can easily be 

transferred to be bilingual.  

Consequently, we are dealing 

with each case with apps 

individually, trying to influence 

companies, conveying the 

business case, that every Local 

Authority is subject to the 

Welsh language Standards.  

Despite these efforts, it is not 

always possible to influence, 

and although the Council is 

doing everything it can to 

ensure bilingual services for the 

public, it is recognised that this 

is not always possible with apps 

and therefore those services 

have to be provided and 

promoted through the Council's 

website.  

61+62+63 Service Delivery Standards 

regarding signs   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

64+67+68+ Service Delivery Standards 

regarding the reception   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

83 Service Delivery Standards 

regarding corporate identity   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

84 Service Delivery Standards 

regarding offering an 

educational course   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

Page 21



SUPPLEMENTARY 

155+156+157+158+159+160 

Service Delivery Standards 

dealing with the compliance 

arrangements for complying 

with the Service Delivery 

Standards   

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.   

 

The corporate complaints 

procedure is followed when 

dealing with language 

complaints, and this procedure 

is on the Council's website.   

 

The Council publishes an annual 

report in accordance with the 

Welsh language Standards.   

 

 

Page 22



POLICY MAKING STANDARDS 

Gwynedd Council has a duty to comply with 10 policy making standards, and 6 supplementary policy 

making standards.   Again, the Council is already operating in accordance with or beyond the 

requirements of many of these standards when they were imposed on the Council by the Welsh 

language Commissioner.  

 

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE STANDARD ACTION 

88+89+90+94 Policy Making Standards 

dealing with considering the 

impact on the Welsh language 

and on Welsh speakers.    

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

The Welsh language is the 

responsibility of every Council 

member of staff, and there is 

enthusiasm in giving 

consideration to the Welsh 

language when drafting a policy 

- this occurs naturally, or 

specialist advice and opinion is 

sought from the Language 

Officer.  

91+92+93 Policy Making Standards 

dealing with publishing a 

consultative document and 

seeking the views of Welsh 

speakers    

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

The Welsh language has been 

part of the Impact Assessment 

for new policies for years, and 

the process of assessing impact 

requires public engagement.  

The template and instructions 

for the impact assessment were 

updated last year in order to 

make the requirements under 

the Equality Act and the 

Language Measures clearer in 

writing.    

 

95+96+97 Policy Making Standards 

dealing with commissioning or 

conducting research  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

 

Page 23



OPERATIONAL STANDARDS 

STANDARD CONTENTS OF THE STANDARD ACTION 

98 Operational  Standards dealing 

with developing a policy on the 

internal use of the Welsh 

language  

Welsh is the Council’s internal 

administrative language.  

The Language Policy was 

adopted by the Full Council on 

3 March 2016, and came into 

effect on 1 April 2016.  

 

 

105+106+107+108+109+110+111 Operational Standards dealing 

with the language of 

publishing policies 

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

Welsh is the Council’s internal 

administrative language.  

 

112+112A+113+115+116+ 

116A+117+119+ 

Operational Standards dealing 

with the complaints and staff 

disciplinary procedure  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

Welsh is the Council’s internal 

administrative language.  

 

120+121+124+126+134+135 Operational Standards 

concerning the use of Welsh 

on computers and the intranet  

Gwynedd Council already 

operating in accordance with 

these Standards.  

 

127+136+136A+ Operational Standards 

regarding assessing the 

language skills of our 

employees 

The Council gathers 

information annually from 

each department to determine 

the number of staff who are 

Welsh speakers.    

The requirement to speak 

Welsh has been placed as an 

essential skill for each post 

within the Council, this means 

that some level of ability and 

understanding is required for 

every post.    

Each post is advertised 

bilingually, and if an individual 

is appointed without the 

necessary Welsh language 

skills (as occurs at times due to 

Page 24



recruitment difficulties in 

some specialist areas) a 

commitment to learn Welsh is 

expected and a development 

plan is agreed with the 

Learning and Development 

team.   

128+129+130+131+132+133+ Operational Standards dealing 

with general training, language 

training and language 

awareness  

Each corporate training 

module is presented in Welsh.   

 

 

Page 25



REPORTING ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE OPERATIONAL STANDARDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDARD 170  

Standard 170 - (a)  the number of employees that have Welsh language skills   
 

The following data reports on the number of employees who have Welsh language skills, giving an 

analysis of the skills level per service:  

 

 

DEPARTMEN

T 

 

UNIT AREA NUMBER OF 
FLUENT 
WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 
UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 
SOME WELSH  

NUMBER WHO 
DO NOT SPEAK 

OR 
UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Environment Planning Service and Public 
Protection: 

 Planning (including Land 
Searches)  

 Public Protection 

 
 

 
 

23 
 

43 

 
 

 
 

1 

 

Transportation and the 
Countryside  

Arfon 
Meirion 
Dwyfor  

37 
1 
8 

 
1 

 

Property  Arfon 
Meirion 
Dwyfor 

32 
7 
3 

2  

TOTAL 154 4  

 

  

Page 26



 

 

 

DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

UNIT 

AREA 

 

 

NUMBER OF 

FLUENT 

WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

 

NUMBER OF 

LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 

UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 

SOME WELSH  

 

NUMBER WHO 

DO NOT SPEAK 

OR 

UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Finance Internal Audit Arfon 6 0 0 

Investment and Treasury 

Management 
Arfon 3 0 0 

Payroll Arfon 10 0 0 

Finance and Accounting Arfon 34 0 0 

Pensions Arfon 15 1 0 

Income / Cashiers Arfon 10 0 0 

Creditors’ Payments Arfon 5 2 0 

Rates  

 

Arfon 18 0 0 

Meirion 5 0 0 

Benefits 

 

Arfon 10 0 0 

Dwyfor 17 0 0 

Meirion 4 0 0 

Risk and Insurance Arfon 2 0 0 

Management Arfon 6 0 0 

Information Technology Arfon 52 1 0 

TOTAL 197 4 0 

 

  

Page 27



 

SERVICE UNIT AREA 

NUMBER OF 
FLUENT 
WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / ABLE 
TO UNDERSTAND 
AND TALK SOME 

WELSH  

NUMBER WHO 
DO NOT SPEAK 

OR 
UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Education Management Team 
Administrative  

Cross 
County  

 

8 
1 

  

ALN and Inclusion: 
 Administrative Staff 
 SENJC Administrative 

Staff 
 Cognition and 

Learning Team 
 Language Impairment 

Units  
 Autism Unit 
 Education for Sick 

Children  
 Minority Ethnic 

Achievement Services 
 Behaviour Support  
 Secondary Inclusion 
 Welfare Service  
 Safeguarding 
 Risk Assessment 
 Education 

Psychologists 
 Specialist Teachers 
 Counsellors  
 TRAC 
 Data Unit  

Cross 
County  

 
2 
 

5 
 

10 
 

9 
2 
 

4 
 

4 
9 
6 
9 
1 
1 
 

12 
10 
5 
8 
1 

  

Wages and School 
Contracts 

Arfon 5   

Governors Cross 
county  

2   

Ancillary Services: 
 Catering and Cleaning 
 Health and Safety 
 Information 
 Administrative  

Cross 
county  

 
6 
1 
1  
1 

  

Area Office: 
 Business and Services 

Officers 

Cross 
county  

 
3 

  

Education Support Unit  Arfon/Dw
yfor 

10   

Modernisation Team Cross 
county  

6   

The Welsh Language: 
 Language Centres 
 Primary Sector Welsh 

Language Charter 
 Secondary Sector 

Language Strategy 

 
Cross 

county  

 
10 
1 
1 
 

  

TOTAL 154   

Page 28



 

 

DEPARTMENT 

 

UNIT 

 

AREA 

NUMBER OF 

FLUENT 

WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 

LEARNERS / ABLE 

TO UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK SOME 

WELSH  

NUMBER WHO 

DO NOT SPEAK 

OR 

UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Corporate 
Support  

Procurement   4 0 0 

Communication and 
Engagement  

 11 
0 

0 

Council Business Support  19 0 0 

Customer Contact and 
Registration  

 44 0 0 

Organisational 
Development 

 3 
0 

0 

Learning and Development  10 0 0 

Support   31 0 0 

Democracy  14 0 0 

Human Resources Advisory 
Services 

 11 0 0 

Health, Safety and Well-
being Advisory Services  

 13 0 0 

Welsh Language Services   11 0 0 

Information Management   5 0 0 

Research and Analysis   6 0 0 

Corporate Support (Central)  8 0 0 
TOTAL 190 0 0  

Page 29



SERVICE UNIT AREA NUMBER OF 

FLUENT 

WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 

LEARNERS / ABLE 

TO UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK SOME 

WELSH  

NUMBER WHO 

DO NOT SPEAK 

OR 

UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Economy and 

Community 

 

 

 

     

Business Support Arfon 5 0 0 

Economic Development 

Programmes  

 

Arfon  

Dwyfor 

(½)  

Meirion 

(½) 

14 0 0 

Tourism, Marketing and 

Events 

Arfon  6 0 0 

Maritime and Country 

Parks  

Gwynedd 20 1 1 

Community Regeneration Gwynedd 16 0 0 

Youth 

 

Gwynedd  

Arfon  

Dwyfor 

Meirion  

4 

54 

19 

37 

 

1 

 

4  

 

 

 

2  

Libraries Gwynedd 52 2 0 

Archives Gwynedd 11 0 0 

Museums and Arts  Arfon 

Dwyfor 

Meirion 

Unknown 

7 

21 

7 

6 

0 2  

0 

0 

0 

Leisure Centres and 

Healthy Living  

 

Arfon 

Dwyfor 

Meirion 

73 

17 

11 

1 

4 

5 

 

 

1 

Healthy Living Programmes  Gwynedd 17 2 0 

TOTAL 382 20 6 

 

  

Page 30



DEPARTMENT UNIT AREA NUMBER OF 
FLUENT 
WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 
UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 
WELSH 

NUMBER 
WHO DO NOT 

SPEAK OR 
UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH 

Adults Health 
and  
Wellbeing 

Central Staff 
Management Team and 
Workforce Development 
Staff 

 5  0 

Social workers and allied 
health services 

 123  0 

Staff in hospitals or clinics  5 
 

 1 

Domiciliary care service  414 
 

 69 

Care Homes - 
 Older People 
 Learning disabilities 

  
240  
47 

 

  
38 
1 

Day and Community 
Services 
  Older People 
  Physical Disabilities 
  Learning Disabilities 
 

  
 

13 
4 

59 

  
 

0 
0 
0 

     

TOTAL 1017  108 

 

Page 31



 

DEPARTMENT UNIT AREA NUMBER OF 

FLUENT 

WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 

LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 

UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 

SOME WELSH  

NUMBER WHO 

DO NOT SPEAK 

OR UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH  

Children and 
Supporting 
Families  

Management Team  4 1 0 
Administrative 
(Management Team) 

 1 0 0 

Children's Team  Arfon 
Dwyfor  
Meirion 

18 
6 
6 

 
1 

3 (GC,HR,SB) 

0 

Referrals Receipt Team   9 0 0 
Fostering  11 2 0 
Adoption 
(not including NWAS 
staff) 

 3 0 0 

16+  12 0 0 
Derwen 
 Council employed 

staff 
 Support Workers 

  
28 
89 

 
0 
2 

 
0 
2 

Support Team   26 3 0 
Edge of Care Team   13 0 0 
Safeguarding and Quality 
Unit 
 Protection 
 Protection 

(administration) 
 Review (IRO) 
 Review 

(administration) 
 Data and 

performance   
 Complaints 
 Out of Hours Team 
 Flying Start Data 

  
1 
2 
4 
2 
2 
1 
5 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Youth Justice Service  16 2           1 
 

Gyda’n Gilydd  7 0 0 
Flying Start  58 0 0 

TOTAL 325 14 4 

Page 32



 

DEPARTMENT UNIT AREA NUMBER OF 
FLUENT 
WELSH 

SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 
UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 
SOME WELSH  

NUMBER WHO DO 
NOT SPEAK OR 

UNDERSTAND ANY 
WELSH  

Highways and 
Municipal 
  
  
  
  

Commissioning Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 
Unknown 

 
10 

 
0 

 
0 

Fleet Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 
Unknown 

9 
9 
7 
5 

0 0 

Municipal Work 
 

Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 
Unknown 

107 
72 
82 
75 

2 
1 
8 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 

Highway Works Anglesey 
Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 
Unknown 

2 
20 
17 
25 
19 
25 

- 
1 
- 
3 
- 
- 

0 

Waste Treatment Arfon 
Meirion 
Unknown 

2 
10 
5 

0 
1 
0 

0 

Management Unit Arfon 
Unknown 

5 0 0 

TOTAL 506 16 0 

 

 

 

Page 33



DEPARTMENT UNIT AREA 

NUMBER 
OF FLUENT 

WELSH 
SPEAKERS 

NUMBER OF 
LEARNERS / 

ABLE TO 
UNDERSTAND 

AND TALK 
SOME WELSH 

NUMBER 
WHO DO NOT 

SPEAK OR 
UNDERSTAND 

ANY WELSH   

Consultancy (YGC) Construction Arfon 12  1 
   Meirion    
   Dwyfor    

  Project Delivery Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 

17 
1 
1 

2 
1 

 
  
  
  Business Unit Arfon 

Dwyfor 
Meirion 

10 1  
  
  
  Technical Unit Arfon 

Dwyfor 
Meirion 

21 
2 

4  
  
  
  Building Control Arfon 

Dwyfor 
Meirion 

9 
 

4 

  
  
  
  Water and 

Environment 
Arfon 
Dwyfor 
Meirion 

9 
9 
1 

3  
  
  
  Management Unit Arfon 

Dwyfor 
Meirion 

3   
     
     

TOTAL 99  11 1 

 

Page 34



Standard 170 - (b) number of members of staff who attended training courses offered in Welsh 
during the year (based on the records kept in accordance with standard 152);  
 
(c) if a Welsh version of a course was offered by you during the year, the percentage of the total 
number of staff who attended the course and who attended the Welsh version (based on the 
records kept in accordance with standard 152);   
 

All internal training titles are offered in Welsh or bilingually, with the majority of the training offered 

during the period in question being internal training.   

The only occasion where training is offered in English only is when training is required in specialist 

areas where there is a lack of qualified Welsh language instructors.   None of the Council's core 

courses are offered in English only.   The Learning and Development team give every support and 

encouragement to external tutors to facilitate their ability to offer elements (especially written 

elements such as as reading materials) of the training bilingually.   We will assess every individual 

situation and consider the best way to ensure that Council staff receive their training in Welsh or 

bilingually.  

TOTAL NO. OF TITLES: 364 

NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS: 3132 

PERCENTAGE WHO ATTENDED WELSH OR BILINGUAL TRAINING - 81.7% 

Period April 1st 2016 - March 31st 2017 

TITLES NUMBER 
PERCENTAGE OF 

TITLES ATTENDEES 

Welsh 275 75.5% 2186 

English 51 14.0% 571 

Bilingual 38 10.4% 375 

 

 The above figures takes that one individual has attended each event - this figure is not a 

reflection of the number of individual staff that could have attended more than one course 

during the year.   

 The numbers include staff and councillors  

 The numbers include all types of training - face to face, webinar sessions, IT skills 

development session, sessions over a period of weeks and workshops  

 

Page 35



Standard 170 - ch) the number of new jobs and empty jobs advertised by you during the year 
categorised as posts that require -   
(i) that Welsh language skills are essential  
(ii) that Welsh language skills need to be learnt when appointed to the post,   
(iii) that Welsh language skills are desirable, or  
(iv) that Welsh language skills are not essential (based on the records kept in accordance with 
standard 154);   
 

That Welsh language skills are essential 465 

That Welsh language skills need to be learnt 

when appointed to the post  

0 

That Welsh language skills are desirable 0 

That Welsh language skills are not essential  0 

 

 

Standard 170 - (d) number of complaints received   
 
Two correspondences were received regarding the Council's alleged failure to comply with the 

Welsh language Standards. In both cases, it was confirmed that the Council had no direct 

responsibility in relation to the complaint.    

In addition, nine complaints were received regarding the Council's compliance with its own Language 

Policy.  These complaints can be categorised to the relevant Departments as follows:   

DEPARTMENT NUMBER OF COMPLAINTS 

Environment 2 

Finance 2 

Economy and Community 5 

Consultancy (YGC) 1 

 

The complaints against the Council's Language Policy dealt with:  

 correspondence received in English only (3),   

 language medium of advertisements (2) 

 signs (2) 

(i) bilingual street names rather than Welsh only  

(ii) English only signs  

 appropriate use of Welsh (1)  

 lack of use of the Welsh place names (1)  

 trainer communicating in English (1)  

The grounds for many of the complaints against the Council's Language Policy derived from errors 

and when discussing with the relevant Departments, assurance was sought that there were firm 

arrangements in place to ensure that those errors do not occur again.  

 

Page 36



Welsh Language Training Report 2016-2017 

During this period support was provided to staff to improve their linguistic skills on all levels using 

the following arrangement:   

 Intensive courses (a week or more - at the Universities or Nant Gwrtheyrn)  

 Courses over a long period (learners to attend once or twice a week in the community) 

 Occasional courses - e.g. Welsh in the Workplace  - two days   

 Language refresher courses (Gloywi Iaith) once a week over a period of 8 - 10 weeks  

 Individual sessions with an internal tutor at the request of individuals  

One class takes place internally:   Higher Level 2 Class - one morning a week and the remainder of 

the provision is external.   

The changes during the last year to the structure and arrangements of Welsh for Adults and the 

establishment of the National Centre for Learning Welsh to lead, coordinate, strengthen and 

establish consistency in terms of the standard of provision in the field, have greatly facilitated the 

work.  Now discussion is only with one provider, with a few exceptions e.g. NMWTRA staff who 

receive training in mid-Wales and come under Aberystwyth.   If staff required a course in the north 

east, then the provider would be Popeth Cymraeg.  

Summary: 

Course Location and Date Number of 

individuals  

Welsh in the workplace two days, June 2016, Bangor University  

 

4 

Aberystwyth Summer School Aberystwyth University 

 

1 

Meirionnydd New Year School 

2017 

Glan –Llyn (Bangor University) 

 

1 

‘Clear Welsh’ - day courses x 2 Canolfan Bedwyr, Bangor March 2017 

 

6 

Language Refresher - over a period 

of weeks  

Bangor University x 3 courses Commencement 

January 2017 

 

24 

Language Refresher - three-day 

course 

Nant Gwrtheyrn, March 2017 

 

1 

Internal Course - Higher Level 2 

(Mastering Class) 

 

Wednesday mornings, Ystafell Mawddach, The 

Learning Centre 

5 

Courses and levels Access, 

Foundation, Intermediate and 

Higher  

 

 

 

Various sites convenient to the learners across 

the county  

41 

Individual tutorial with individuals   At the request of individuals it is possible to Varies 

Page 37



 organise tutorials with the language co-ordinator 

to revise a piece of work and to receive guidance 

on specific points that cause confusion to the 

individual.  This is of course subject to time and 

room availability.     This could be at any language 

level. 

according 

to demand  

 

Where are the learners?  (does not include refresher courses for fluent speakers)  

Department Number of learners 

Adults and Children  25 

Education 2 

Finance 1 

Regulatory 3 

Highways and Municipal 1 

Consultancy 6 

Trunk Roads  3 

Total  41 

 

Developmental elements:  

Developing new courses  

A new course was developed following a specific request by a Manager, and there will be four half 

day courses, Improving Welsh at Work, trialled with the Call Centre staff in April and May 2017.  

A need has also been identified during the year to develop and provide new courses that will get to 

grips with the confidence of Welsh speakers and improve written skills. Therefore, during 2017-18 a 

new programme of language training will be developed.   

Dafydd Orwig Memorial Prize 2016-2017 

This award, presented as part of the Council's annual awards ceremony, has traditionally recognised 

the efforts of new learners, however, this was amended last year to try and reflect the importance 

given to promoting and encouraging the Welsh language and leading by example.     

This year the award was presented to two individuals who have contributed to promoting the Welsh 

language within the organisation by making an intentional decision to use Welsh in the workplace, 

namely:    

 Will Stockford – Aberdyfi Harbour (Economy and Community) 

 Owen Duncan – Technical Engineer (Gwynedd Consultancy) 

Both belong to a group of 'non-confident Welsh speakers' who learnt Welsh many years ago to a 

certain point, rather than learners who currently attend Welsh lessons. They have changed their 

habits and have been praised for their perseverance by their managers and co-workers.  

 

Page 38



Language Framework 

A new Language Framework was developed during the year by the Workforce Development Officer / 

Welsh Language Co-ordinator.  This coincides with the work of adapting the way the Council 

assesses the need for Welsh language skills when advertising jobs, and therefore an information 

sheet was also prepared for managers, explaining in detail what each level means and what could be 

expected from those levels.   This should make the information on the framework more meaningful.   

 

Page 39



Additional developmental work during the year:   

Language Awareness (relevant to Standards 132, 133)  

A Language Awareness e-module was developed jointly with the Learning and Development 

Department.    This module is available to all Council staff, and consistent work will be undertaken to 

draw attention to this and to get staff to complete.     

A programme of face to face language awareness sessions has also commenced during the year, 

with 12 sessions of approximately 85 members of staff held thus far.  These sessions are being held 

as part of a long-term programme and have focused on particular departments.  The sessions will be 

rolled out across the Council in time.    

Language Champion 

The Language Champions Scheme is being spread across the Council, for use in departments where 

it is judged it would be beneficial.  Thus far, the champions have been chosen in the Leisure service 

(re-establishing the Scheme that ran there for many years) and in the Consultancy (YGC) 

department.    

 

Visibility Investigation   

An investigation was conducted as part of the Language Committee's work programme looking at 

different elements of the language's visibility in the Council's services.   

The purpose of the investigation was to consider to what degree is language visibility important -in 

names, signs and notices across the county - in terms of the language's status and residents' 

confidence using it as a natural part of everyday life. It also considered the degree of influence the 

Council has over that visibility, and whether there is a need for the Council to do more.  

It considered several areas - from the prominence of the language within the Council itself to 

procurement arrangements, grant conditions and the Council's influence on roadside and street side 

signs. Particular attention was given to the way the Welsh language is used in leisure and 

recreational events funded or promoted by the Council, to see if there was anything that could be 

done to increase use, either by strengthening the conditions of language agreements or by working 

in conjunction with Council departments and events organisers. A number of recommendations 

were noted that are therefore relevant to Standards 35 and 36  

 

4. Recommendations  
 
A20 That the Council operates pro-actively and uses every opportunity to promote and influence on 
the visibility of the Welsh language and remember the Welsh language at all times, giving priority to:  
*An initial conversation that occurs through a company's first contact with the Council where they 
could be also reminded of the economical benefit of doing this  
*Events Safety Advisory Group that is chaired by the Events Manager   
 
A21 That the Council's departments that come into contact with those who organise events, 
cooperate with them and give them a list of bilingual designers.  

Page 40



 
A22 Send out a document to raise awareness of the language with the entertainment licence.  
 
A23 Use the Training Forum to raise awareness of the Welsh language.  
 
A24 Make changes to the tourism website's presentation (Snowdonia Mountains and Coast) in order 

to strengthen the feeling of a sense of place.  

The language unit has been working closely with the tourism team in the Economy and Community 

Department during 2016-17 in order to develop the relationship between both units and to 

strengthen their influence on public events organisers in the county.   Language conditions already 

existed within the funding contracts, but it was felt that there was scope to have further influence, in 

accordance with the above recommendations, and the officers have been proactive in offering 

advice and guidance to organisers to ensure that any event the Council is associated with, be that via 

formal funding or by offering support of any type, operates bilingually.   

 

Assessing language skills (standards 136-137) 

Work is proceeding on the project by the Human Resources department to establish a new system 

for determining language conditions in relation to jobs.    Officers have been working with four 

specific departments during the year on the first phase of the work, namely to identify where the 

existing jobs sit within the language framework developed by the Workforce Development 

Officer/Welsh Language Co-ordinator.   

The remaining Council departments will go through the process during the first months of 2017-

2018, before moving on to the second phase, which will be using the framework when recruiting to 

new jobs and link new appointments with training where required.   

 

Contracts - Staff Guidance 

The work of adapting contracts to reflect existing legislation is continuous, and in 2016-17 there was 

specific work to check and update conditions in care contracts, as different contracts were updated.    

This included intensive work by Council officers to try and ensure that the regional contracts reflect 

not only the requirements of the Councils in terms of the Standards, but also the expectations under 

the More than Words Strategic Framework.    There was a strong element in this work of having to 

raise the awareness of corresponding officers in the care and commissioning field in other councils.    

A guidance for managers and staff on setting language conditions in contracts was drafted during 

2016-17 and it was not shared with Managers due to a delay with publishing the essential 

information guide by the Commissioner.   The Guide   Contracting Out Public Service Contracts: 

Welsh Language Considerations was published in January 2017, and was shared with relevant 

officers within the Council.  

 

 

Page 41

http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/Cymraeg/Cyhoeddiadau/Pages/ManylionCyhoeddiad.aspx?PublicationId=f1081cb4-8454-4174-82b4-0a39b39adfba&Category=Dogfennau%20cyngor%20ac%20argymhellion
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/Cymraeg/Cyhoeddiadau/Pages/ManylionCyhoeddiad.aspx?PublicationId=f1081cb4-8454-4174-82b4-0a39b39adfba&Category=Dogfennau%20cyngor%20ac%20argymhellion


 

More Than Just Words  

During the year the Language Unit has been collaborating with the Council's Adults and Well-being 

Department to coordinate the work done as a commitment to the Welsh language standards and 

the Strategic Framework for Welsh language Services in Health, Social Services and Social Care: More 

Than Just Words  This work has focused specifically on trying to influence private care providers in 

the county to follow the principle of the proactive proposal and ensure that the requirements of the 

patients are satisfied.   Information and advice has been shared via county forums, strengthened 

conditions within county and regional contracts and guidelines have been prepared to assist 

businesses to assess their current use of Welsh and to draft language policies.    

Iaith Gwaith Lanyards and Badges  

We have distributed more lanyards to staff as required and continue to encourage any front-line 

staff to wear them.   A supply of learners' lanyards was also received and these are available for 

those who are less confident.   

 

Page 42



MEETING: 

 

LANGUAGE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 

 

4 JULY 2017 

TITLE: 

 

THE COUNCIL’S PERSPECTIVE ON: 

ACHIEVING THE AMBITION: INQUIRY INTO THE WELSH 

GOVERNMENT'S NEW WELSH LANGUAGE STRATEGY  

AUTHOR: 

 

MAIR ROWLANDS, 

DEPUTY COUNCIL LEADER 

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

The Language Committee is duty bound to fulfil a 

consultative role on language promotion strategies within 

the county.  

The purpose of this report is to present the Council's 

perspective on Achieving the Ambition: Inquiry into the 

Welsh Government's New Welsh Language Strategy, and to 

consider any opportunities and threats raised by the 

recommendations to the Welsh language in Gwynedd.  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Language Committee is duty bound to fulfil a consultative role on language promotion 

strategies within the county.  

 

2. CONSULTATION DOCUMENT: A MILLION WELSH SPEAKERS BY 2050  

2.1 On 1 August 2016, Welsh Government published a consultation document:  Consultation on 

a Welsh Government draft strategy: A million Welsh speakers by 2050.  

2.2 The consultation document reflected the long-term vision of Welsh Government for the 

Welsh language, and that by the year 2050:  ‘The Welsh language is thriving, and the number 

of speakers has risen to a million.  It is natural to use it in every aspect of life, and among 

those who do not speak it there is goodwill towards it and an appreciation of its contribution 

to the culture and economy of Wales'. 

2.3 In order to realise the strategy's aim of doubling the number of Welsh speakers by the 

middle of the century, Welsh Government has identified six key areas for action:  

Page 42

Agenda Item 11



1. Planning and language policy  

2. Normalisation  

3. Education 

4. People 

5. Support 

6. Rights 

A copy of the consultation document is available in Appendix 1.  

2.4 The then Deputy Council Leader with responsibility for the Welsh language drafted a 

response to the consultation document on behalf of the Council.  A copy of the draft 

response is included in Appendix 2.  

 

 

3. ACHIEVING THE AMBITION - INQUIRY INTO THE WELSH GOVERNMENT'S NEW WELSH 

LANGUAGE STRATEGY (MAY 2017) 

3.1 In May 2017, the report of the Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee 

was published and it agreed that it was an opportune time to conduct an Inquiry into the 

new strategy. The aim of the inquiry was to inform and influence the new strategy at a 

formative step in its development. 

3.2 It is noted that the Committee fully supports the bold aim of the policy reaching a million 

speakers by 2050; nevertheless, it also notes that its main concern is that the implications of 

the strategic aim have not yet been fully though through and that there is a lack of detail 

and clarity about how aim will be achieved.  

3.3 The Committee has submitted 23 recommendations, and it is noted that the majority of 

them are concerned with the practicalities of how this ambition can be achieved and the 

need for clarity on the staging points along the way. 

3.4 The following table presents the recommendations of the inquiry and compares whether or 

not its recommendations agree with the Council's response to the consultation document, 

and any further opportunities/threats envisaged for Gwynedd:  

 

Page 43



 

RECOMMENDATION 

AGREE 

WITH GC's 

RESPONSE 

OPPORTUNITIES / THREATS 

1. We recommend that the 

Government should publish its 

underlying assumptions about the 

increase in Welsh speakers it 

expects from its proposed 

interventions and consults further 

on detailed, outcome-focussed, 

targets and milestones before 

adopting them for the new strategy 

 

 

 

 

2. We recommend that the final 

strategy should give due weight to 

the importance of nurturing 

language use in communities, in 

social life and in workplaces.  This 

should be done alongside language 

acquisition through Welsh-medium 

education, early years' education 

and improving the quality of Welsh 

language teaching in English-

medium schools and Welsh 

language outcomes for pupils. 

 
 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY  

Maintaining and increasing the 

language use in the communities 

and in social life is crucial to 

Gwynedd.  

3. We recommend that the proposed 

new Agency for the Promotion of 

Welsh has a clear focus from the 

outset in helping deliver the overall 

strategic aim of a million Welsh 

speakers particularly through 

helping parents understand the 

benefits of bilingual education and 

of learning Welsh in schools outside 

the Welsh-medium sector. 

 

x 
 

 

OPPORTUNITY/THREAT 

In the Council's response to the 

Welsh Language Bill, we noted 

that we did not support 

establishing a new Agency to 

support the Welsh language.  

 

Convincing parents to 

understand and appreciate the 

advantages of bilingual 

education is crucial to 

maintaining and rejuvenating the 

Welsh language in Gwynedd, and 

it is essential that the messages 

conveyed respond to a local 

context and position; in 

Gwynedd's case there are 

negative attitudes, apathy, and 

lack of understanding and 

Page 44



awareness of the value of the 

language.  

4. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government sets out as an urgent 

priority: 

 Its assessment of how many 

additional teachers able to 

teach through the medium 

of Welsh will be needed to 

achieve the strategy’s 

overall aim; 

 When those teachers will be 

needed; and 

 How it will identify, recruit 

and train those teachers for 

when they are needed. 

 

 

 

 

 

5. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government considers what 

additional help and support it needs 

to provide to private sector 

employers and businesses to enable 

them to develop and expand their 

Welsh language provision as part of 

meeting the overall aim of the 

strategy 

 

 

 

6. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government publishes as a matter 

of urgency it’s assessment of the 

additional resources that will be 

needed to support the strategic aim 

of 1 million Welsh speakers by the 

year 2050.  This should include the 

projected profile of spending over 

the early part of the strategy and an 

assessment of the comparative cost 

of what the various interventions 

that will be required are likely to be 

 

 

 

THREAT 

In light of so much emphasis on 

the Welsh-medium education 

sector to deliver the aim of the 

Language Strategy, the resources 

needed to achieve this are 

substantial, and this could have a 

detrimental impact on the 

resources provided to maintain 

and support the Welsh language 

in the education sector and in 

the community in Gwynedd. 

7. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government responds specifically to 

Mudiad Meithrin’s assessment that 

an additional 650 new ‘cylch 

meithrin’ will be needed to support 

the strategy 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY / THREAT 

There is an opportunity to 

ensure that the 30 hour 

provision of free child care will 

be in Welsh, as a medium to 

contribute to achieve the aim of 

the strategy. Without this, the 

Page 45



entire essence of the strategy 

will be undermined. 

8. We recommend that expanding 

Welsh-medium early years provision 

should be a priority area when 

considering additional funding 

under the strategy. 

 

 
 

It is necessary to ensure that this 

investment is disseminated 

across Wales, not only in terms 

of extending the provision, but 

also to strengthen and endorse 

the current Welsh-medium offer.   

9. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government should consider 

providing free tuition in Welsh to 

parents who put their children into 

Welsh-language pre-school 

provision  

 

 

 

10. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government takes steps to improve 

the information it has available on 

the Welsh-medium capabilities of 

early years practitioners so that it 

can plan properly to ensure that 

practitioners have the right skill mix 

and progression opportunities to 

support the aims of the strategy. 

 

 

 

 

11. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government sets out in detail how it 

intends to move “schools along the 

language continuum” including 

examples of good practice models, 

with a particular focus on how it will 

address any concerns from parents 

and the wider community. 

 

 

 

THREAT 

This situation is not as relevant 

to Gwynedd. 

12. We recommend that the final 

strategy should emphasise the need 

to move greater number of pupils 

along the language continuum and 

how this will be achieved in all 

categories of schools in Wales. 

 

 

THREAT 

This situation is not as relevant 

to Gwynedd. 

13. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government evaluates the efficacy 

of its current scheme for improving 

the level of Welsh of practicing 

teachers and sets out a projected 

timescale for how Welsh speaking 

teachers, who do not currently 

 

 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY 

This is relevant in particular to 

the workforce of Tywyn and 

Friars secondary schools in 

Gwynedd.   

Page 46



teach in Welsh, can be encouraged 

to do so including providing more 

opportunities: 

 for them to transfer to 

Welsh medium education; 

and 

 for mentoring and others 

schemes to help build 

confidence in their ability in 

Welsh. 

14. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government sets out clearly: 

 how many additional 

teachers able to teach 

through the medium of 

Welsh will be needed to 

achieve the strategy’s 

overall aim; 

 when they will be needed; 

and 

 how many of these 

additional teachers will be 

drawn from the existing 

teaching workforce and how 

many through initial teacher 

training or other routes into 

the profession 

 

 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY 

The geographical distribution of 

teachers should also be 

considered, as there may be 

problems in recruiting Welsh 

teachers in some specific areas 

(including Gwynedd). 

15. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government considers how it can 

increase the supply of Welsh 

speaking students entering initial 

teacher training or other entry 

routes into the profession taking 

into account any wider recruitment 

implications this may have for 

recruiting teachers, both within 

Wales and in competition with other 

parts of the UK 

 

 

 

 

16. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government considers the role of 

learning support staff in supporting 

the aims of the strategy and takes 

steps, along with Estyn and the 

Education Workforce Council, to 

 

 

 

Page 47



establish a clearer picture of their 

current language skills to help 

inform future planning  

17. We recommend that the new 

strategy should place equal 

emphasis on dramatically improving 

outcomes from Welsh second 

language teaching along with 

increasing the numbers receiving 

Welsh-medium or bilingual 

education. 

 

 

 

18. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government sets out clearly how it 

will dramatically improve the 

teaching of Welsh in English-

medium schools. 

 

 

THREAT 

This situation is not as relevant 

to Gwynedd. 

19. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government, along with the WJEC, 

reviews the provision of Welsh 

language learning resources for 

students to ensure that students 

receiving their education through 

the medium of Welsh are not 

disadvantaged. 

 

 

 

20. We recommend a thorough 

evaluation of the Sabbatical 

Scheme, looking particularly at its 

value for money in improving 

classroom outcomes and in 

encouraging more teachers to teach 

Welsh or through the medium of 

Welsh. 

 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY 

In Gwynedd, the greatest 

obstacle that prevents teacher 

from taking up the Sabbatical 

Scheme is their unwillingness to 

be released from their workplace 

for a whole term. 

21. We recommend that the proposed 

new Agency for the Promotion of 

Welsh, working with established 

organisations and local initiatives, 

promotes and markets Welsh as a 

community language with benefits 

to speakers as a skill and in the 

workplace 

x 
 

 

OPPORTUNITY / THREAT 

In the Council's response to the 

Welsh Language Bill, we noted 

that we did not support 

establishing a new Agency to 

support the Welsh language.  

 

Nevertheless, we support the 

need to promote and market the 

Welsh language as a community 

language with benefits to 

speakers as a skill and in the 

Page 48



workplace  

22. We recommend that the Welsh 

Government continues to support 

good quality, widely available Welsh 

for Adults provision but considers 

carefully its relative priority within 

the strategy compared to other 

priority areas 

 

 

 

23. We recommend that the final 

strategy includes a clear definition 

of what will count as a Welsh 

speaker in evaluating whether the 

strategy is successful in its aim of 

creating a million speakers 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY / THREAT 

The clear definition of Welsh 

speaker must consider the use 

made of the language, because if 

this is not done, and if all levels 

of ability in Welsh is considered 

a 'speaker'; this could devalue 

the entire essence and purpose 

of the Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



3.5 Although the Council, in essence, does not disagree with any of the recommendations, as the 

list of recommendations is based on the content of the consultation document, which had 

an overwhelming emphasis on the Welsh-medium education sector as a vehicle for 

delivering the aim of a million speakers by 2050; nearly all the recommendations are 

therefore related to the education sector.  

3.6 One of the Council's main messages in responding to the consultation document was the 

need for the Welsh Government's Language Strategy to address the different and varying 

needs within areas of Wales, especially in the strongholds.  It also noted the need to focus 

on increasing use of the Welsh language in addition to increasing the number of speakers.  

This endorses the points made as part of Recommendation 2, but as only one 

recommendation of the 23 refers to this, we cannot emphasise enough that this is by far the 

most important recommendation to be reflected in the new strategy.  

 

4. NEXT STEPS 

4.1  It is understood that Welsh Government's intention is to publish the final version of the 

Language Strategy soon. 

 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are asked to: 

- discuss the contents of the Achieving the Ambition: Inquiry into the Welsh 

Government's New Welsh Language Strategy report and its Recommendations in 

relation to the position of the Welsh language in Gwynedd. 

Page 50



 

 

P
age 51



National Assembly for Wales
Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee

Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee

Achieving the Ambition

Inquiry into the Welsh 
Government’s new Welsh 
Language Strategy

May 2017

Page 50



The National Assembly for Wales is the 
democratically elected body that represents 
the interests of Wales and its people, makes 
laws for Wales, agrees Welsh taxes and holds 
the Welsh Government to account.

An electronic copy of this document can be found on the National Assembly’s website:
www.assembly.wales/SeneddCWLC

Copies of this document can also be obtained in accessible formats including Braille, large print; audio or 
hard copy from:

Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay
CF99 1NA

Tel:  0300 200 6565
Email: SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales
Twitter: @SeneddCWLC

© National Assembly for Wales Commission Copyright 2017
The text of this document may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium providing that 
it is reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading or derogatory context. The material must 
be acknowledged as copyright of the National Assembly for Wales Commission and the title of the 
document specified.

Page 51



National Assembly for Wales
Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee

Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee

Achieving the Ambition

Inquiry into the Welsh 
Government’s new Welsh 
Language Strategy

May 2017

Page 52



Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee

The Committee was established on 28 June 2016 to examine legislation and hold the Welsh Government 
to account by scrutinising expenditure, administration and policy matters, encompassing (but not 
restricted to): culture; the arts; historic environment; Welsh language; communications; broadcasting 
and the media.

Current Committee membership:

Bethan Jenkins AM (Chair) 
Plaid Cymru
South Wales West 

Hannah Blythyn AM 
Welsh Labour
Delyn

Suzy Davies AM
Welsh Conservative 
South Wales West 

Dawn Bowden AM
Welsh Labour 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhymney

Dai Lloyd AM
Plaid Cymru
South Wales West 

Neil Hamilton AM
UKIP Wales 
Mid and West Wales 

Lee Waters AM
Welsh Labour
Llanelli

Jeremy Miles AM
Welsh Labour 
Neath 

Page 53



Contents 

Foreword ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Recommendations ...................................................................................................................... 7 

 The draft strategy ........................................................................................................... 11 

 Targets and Milestones ................................................................................................ 17 

 Emphasis of Strategy .................................................................................................... 19 

 Workforce Planning ........................................................................................................ 23 

 Financial resource .......................................................................................................... 27 

 Early years provision ..................................................................................................... 29 

 Statutory Education Provision ................................................................................... 32 

 Progression....................................................................................................................... 41 

 Upskilling and Training ................................................................................................. 43 

 Additional issues for consideration .......................................................................... 47 

Annex A – Oral evidence sessions ....................................................................................... 53 

Annex B – Written evidence ................................................................................................... 54 

Annex C – External evidence gathering ............................................................................. 56 

 

Page 54



 

 

Page 55



5 

Foreword 

The Welsh Government has committed to creating one million Welsh speakers by 2050. This is an 

ambitious target, which will, if it is successful, almost double the number of Welsh speakers in Wales in 

just over a generation. 

The committee fully supports the bold aim of the policy, and has set out to be constructive in 

considering the practicalities of how this radical policy can be successfully implemented.    

We took evidence from a range of stakeholders through written submissions and oral evidence 

sessions. We also took evidence through informal external engagement sessions both with 

stakeholders and school pupils across Wales.   

It is clear from considering the evidence that success will require hard work, considerable additional 

resources and clear targets.  It will also need to be founded on the continuing support of the people of 

Wales, Welsh and non-Welsh speakers alike. 

Our recommendations are, on the whole, concerned with the practicalities of how the ambition can 

be turned into reality and the need for clarity on the staging points along the way.    

Our main concern is that the implications of the strategic aim have not yet been fully thought 

through and that there is a lack of detail and clarity about how the aim will be achieved.  We are also 

yet to be convinced that the Welsh Government have provided the necessary evidence on the likely 

scale of the additional resources and investment required to achieve its aim. The ambition to double 

the number of Welsh speakers is a cultural policy, albeit one that will need to be delivered in large part 

through the education system. There is a clear risk that this may have a distortive effect on the 

delivery of educational priorities as the system is realigned to be able to deliver the language strategy. 

It is therefore important that the resources and capacity needed to implement the policy are in 

addition to current spending on education.   

The committee shares the concern of the Language Commissioner and the Minister that too many 

Local Authorities have been inactive in stimulating and assessing demand for increased Welsh 

medium provision. The principal driver for increasing capacity -  the Welsh in Education Strategic 

Plans (WESPs) – have not been implemented as intended and many local authorities do not seem to 

be sufficiently ambitious to create the growth that is needed. Too often they simply assess current 

demand, without looking to see how Welsh-medium education can be positively promoted so that 

demand increases. 

The strategy mentions moving schools along the language continuum.  In our view, the key issue is 

ensuring that more pupils move along the learning continuum toward fluency across both Welsh and 

English-medium education. There is a danger that we focus too much on changing the language 

category of the school rather than improving the fluency of pupils in all schools. 

As seventy five percent of Welsh pupils attend English-medium schools the Committee does not feel 

that sufficient attention is being given to other possible ways of growing the number of Welsh 

speakers within the strategy.   

With improved outcomes, English-medium schools may be a rich source of the Welsh speakers of the 

future.  If this were the case, the Welsh Government needs to demonstrate how it intends to improve 

Welsh language education within English-medium schools.   

Page 56



6 

If the overall goal is to be met then it is not enough to rely simply on the maintained education sector. 

Pre-school education also has a fundamental contribution to make, particularly in terms of 

‘normalising’ the language from an early age.  

Overall, we believe there is currently a lack of clarity around the Welsh Government’s view on the 

comparative contribution that Welsh-medium education, Welsh in other schools, pre-school and 

‘normalisation’ measures will make in delivering the overall aim. We would also like to see greater 

clarity from the Welsh Government on this, and whether a different focus is intended for different 

interventions as the strategy progresses. 

Finally, if the aim of a million ‘Welsh speakers’ is to be meaningful, this must mean more than just the 

ability to say a few phrases in Welsh.  It must mean understanding and holding conversations naturally 

on most everyday subjects. However, work is needed on identifying an objective way of measuring 

progress that is widely accepted. In our view, this should be the numbers of people reporting in the 

Census that they speak Welsh. 

The decline in the number of people captured in the last census as being able to speak Welsh has 

rightly been a wake-up call which demands a different approach to safeguarding the future of the 

language in our national life. Doing more of the same will, self-evidently, be inadequate. In setting an 

arresting target for growth the Welsh Government has rightly set out an ambitious intention to halt 

the decline in the number of Welsh speakers and reverse the trend of the last Century. But to achieve 

that ambition will require a detailed and fully resourced plan for growth. 

 

  

Page 57



7 

Recommendations  

Recommendation 1. We recommend that the Government should publish its 

underlying assumptions about the increase in Welsh speakers it expects from its 

proposed interventions and consults further on detailed, outcome-focussed, 

targets and milestones before adopting them for the new strategy. ……… Page 18 

Recommendation 2. We recommend that the final strategy should give due 

weight to the importance of nurturing language use in communities, in social life 

and in workplaces. This should be done alongside language acquisition through 

Welsh-medium education, early years education and improving the quality of 

Welsh language teaching in English-medium schools and Welsh language 

outcomes for pupils. ………………………….……………………….………………………………… Page 22 

Recommendation 3. We recommend that the proposed new Agency for the 

Promotion of Welsh has a clear focus from the outset in helping deliver the 

overall strategic aim of a million Welsh speakers particularly through helping 

parents understand the benefits of a bilingual education and of learning Welsh in 

schools outside the Welsh-medium sector. …………………………………………..…… Page 22 

Recommendation 4. We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out as 

an urgent priority: 

 Its assessment of how many additional teachers able to teach through the 

medium of Welsh will be needed to achieve the strategy’s overall aim; 

 When those teachers will be needed; and 

 How it will identify, recruit and train those teachers for when they are 

needed. ………………………….……………………………………………………………..……… Page 26 

Recommendation 5. We recommend that the Welsh Government considers 

what additional help and support it needs to provide to private sector employers 

and businesses to enable them to develop and expand their Welsh language 

provision as part of meeting the overall aim of the strategy. …………………… Page 26 

Recommendation 6. We recommend that the Welsh Government publishes as 

a matter of urgency it’s assessment of the additional resources that will be 

needed to support the strategic aim of 1 million Welsh speakers by the year 

2050. This should include the projected profile of spending over the early part of 

Page 58



8 

the strategy and an assessment of the comparative cost of what the various 

interventions that will be required are likely to be. ……………………………….…… Page 28 

Recommendation 7. We recommend that the Welsh Government responds 

specifically to Mudiad Meithrin’s assessment that an additional 650 new ‘cylch 

meithrin’ will be needed to support the strategy. ……………………………………… Page 31 

Recommendation 8. We recommend that expanding Welsh-medium early 

years provision should be a priority area when considering additional funding 

under the strategy. ………………………….…………….……………………………………………… Page 31 

Recommendation 9. We recommend that the Welsh Government should 

consider providing free tuition in Welsh to parents who put their children into 

Welsh-language pre-school provision. ………………………….……………….…………… Page 31 

Recommendation 10. We recommend that the Welsh Government takes steps 

to improve the information it has available on the Welsh-medium capabilities of 

early years practitioners so that it can plan properly to ensure that practitioners 

have the right skill mix and progression opportunities to support the aims of the 

strategy. ……………………………………………………….…………………………...…………………… Page 31 

Recommendation 11. We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out in 

detail how it intends to move “schools along the language continuum” including 

examples of good practice models, with a particular focus on how it will address 

any concerns from parents and the wider community. ………………………..…… Page 33 

Recommendation 12. We recommend that the final strategy should emphasise 

the need to move greater number of pupils along the language continuum and 

how this will be achieved in both in all categories of schools in Wales. …… Page 33 

Recommendation 13. We recommend that the Welsh Government evaluates 

the efficacy of its current scheme for improving the level of Welsh of practicing 

teachers and sets out a projected timescale for how Welsh speaking teachers, 

who do not currently teach in Welsh, can be encouraged to do so including 

providing more opportunities: 

 for them to transfer to Welsh medium education; and 

 for mentoring and others schemes to help build confidence in their ability 

in Welsh. ……………………….……………………………………………………………………… Page 35 

Page 59



9 

Recommendation 14. We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out 

clearly: 

 how many additional teachers able to teach Welsh as a subject and teach 

through the medium of Welsh will be needed to achieve the strategy’s 

overall aim; 

 when they will be needed; and 

 how many of these additional teachers will be drawn from the exisiting 

teaching workforce and how many through initial teacher training or other 

routes into the profession. ………………..………………………………………………. Page 35 

Recommendation 15. We recommend that that the Welsh Government 

considers how it can increase the supply of Welsh speaking students entering 

initial teacher training or other entry routes into the profession taking into 

account any wider recruitment implications this may for recruiting teachers 

both within Wales and in competition with other parts of the UK. …………… Page 35 

Recommendation 16. We recommend that the Welsh Government considers 

the role of learning support staff in supporting the aims of the strategy and 

takes steps, along with Estyn and the Education Workforce Council, to establish 

a clearer picture of their current language skills to help inform future planning. 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...……. Page 36 

Recommendation 17. We recommend that the new strategy should place equal 

emphasis on dramatically improving outcomes from Welsh second language 

teaching along with increasing the numbers receiving Welsh-medium or 

bilingual education. ………………………………………………………………………….……..……. Page 39 

Recommendation 18. We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out 

clearly how it will dramatically improve the teaching of Welsh in English-medium 

schools. ……………………………………………………………………………………………………..…….Page 39 

Recommendation 19. We recommend that the Welsh Government along with 

the WJEC reviews the provision of Welsh language learning resources for 

students to ensure that students receiving their education through the medium 

of Welsh are not disadvantaged. ………………………………………………….……………….Page 39 

  

Page 60



10 

Recommendation 20. We recommend a thorough evaluation of the Sabbatical 

Scheme looking particularly at its value for money in improving classroom 

outcomes and in encouraging more teachers to teach Welsh or in Welsh.  

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...……. Page 46 

Recommendation 21. We recommend that the proposed new Agency for the 

Promotion of Welsh, working with established organisations and local initiatives, 

promotes and markets Welsh as a community language with benefits to 

speakers as a skill and in the workplace. …….……………….……………….……………. Page  48 

Recommendation 22. We recommend that the Welsh Government continues to 

support good quality, widely available Welsh for Adults provision but considers 

carefully its relative priority within the strategy compared to other priority areas. 

……………….……………….……………….……………….……………….……………….……………….…… Page 51 

Recommendation 23. We recommend that the final strategy includes a clear 

definition of what will count as a Welsh speaker in evaluating whether the 

strategy is successful in its aim of creating a million speakers. ………………. Page 52 

 

  

Page 61



11 

 The draft strategy 

Introduction 

1. On 1 August 2016 the First Minister and the Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh 

Language launched the consultation on the Welsh Government’s new Welsh Language Strategy 

at the National Eisteddfod in Abergavenny. The consultation came to an end on 31 October 2016 and 

the current strategy formally came to an end on 31 March 2017.  

2. The Welsh Government’s stated ambition is to have a million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

According to the most recent Census in 2011 there were 562,000 Welsh speakers in Wales. On that 

basis, the aim of the strategy will be to almost double the number of Welsh speakers in Wales by the 

middle of the century. 

3. The Committee agreed that this would be an opportune time to conduct an Inquiry into the 

new strategy. The aim of the inquiry was to seek to inform and influence the new strategy at a 

formative stage.  

4. Throughout this report we use the terms Welsh first and second language to refer to the 

different programmes of study within the National Curriculum.  These are well understood terms in 

relation to the teaching of Welsh. However, we agree with the Welsh Government’s consultation 

document that there is a need to move away from the concept of “Welsh as a second language” 

towards an integrated and cohesive consideration of the language as a genuinely living language. 

The Welsh Language Strategy 

5. In order for the overall aim of the strategy, of a million speakers by 2050, to be met, the Welsh 

Government proposes prioritising six key areas for action.  

1. - Planning and Language Policy: For all the other elements of this strategy to 

be effective, the Welsh Government believes that it needs to plan sensibly and 

deliberately to put the appropriate programmes in place at the appropriate time. 

For instance, in order to increase the number of Welsh speakers on the scale 

needed, the first step in any strategy must be to create enough teachers to teach 

children through the medium of Welsh.  

2. - Normalisation: By fostering a willingness to use Welsh among people who 

speak it, and goodwill towards it among those who don’t, the Welsh 

Government wants the language to be a normal part of everyday life. This 

means that people feel comfortable beginning a conversation in Welsh, that 

they can expect to receive services in Welsh, and that people are used to 

hearing it and seeing it.  

3. - Education: The Welsh Government wants to see a significant increase in 

the number of people receiving Welsh-medium education and who have Welsh 

language skills. Early years provision is also essential, as the earlier a child 

comes into contact with the language, the more opportunity he or she has to 

become fluent.  

4. - People: As well as education, it will be essential to increase the number of 

people who transmit the language to their children.  

Page 62

https://consultations.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultation_doc_files/160729-consultation-doc-en.pdf


12 

5. - Support: It is essential to develop a robust and modern infrastructure to 

support the language in order to increase the number of speakers, improve their 

confidence, and make it easier to use in a wide variety of settings. Digital 

resources, a healthy and diverse media, a responsive and modern translation 

profession, and a corpus which reflects and maintains the status of Welsh as a 

living language, are essential for Welsh speakers whatever their ability. 

6. - Rights: Legislation provides an unequivocal basis for organisations to act in 

support of the language and for Welsh speakers to use it. Individuals need to be 

encouraged to take up the opportunities that come with these rights. The long 

term aim is to move to a situation where these rights are embedded as a natural 

part of services.1 

6. The Strategy also stated: 

2016 – now and next 

Our vision is clear – to have a million Welsh speakers by 2050. For us to 

achieve that, we believe that several things need to happen: more children in 

Welsh-medium education, better planning in relation to how people learn the 

language, more easy-to-access opportunities for people to use the language, a 

stronger infrastructure and a revolution to improve digital provision in Welsh, 

and a sea change in the way we speak about it. 

7. The Strategy states that the education system is the main way for ensuring that children can 

develop their Welsh skills, and for creating new speakers. Further to that it states that ensuring there 

is a workforce that meets the need for Welsh-medium education and training is the starting point for 

creating more speakers. This means planning to support the training of teachers and learning 

assistants, expanding sabbatical schemes for the present workforce, and significantly increasing the 

number of workers in the childcare and early years sectors.  

8. It therefore identifies its first objective as creating a workforce with the appropriate skills to 

educate and provide services through the medium of Welsh. It intends to do this by: 

 Significantly increasing the number of teachers and early years practitioners who are able to 

teach through the medium of Welsh, to enable the education of more children and young 

people through the medium of Welsh.  

 Increasing the number of Welsh-medium childcare places, in order to satisfy the need 

among parents and carers and start as many children as possible on the journey to having 

two languages.  

 Increasing the number of people who can work through the medium of Welsh in a number of 

specialist areas and services, so that Welsh services are available to those who choose them.  

 Normalising language planning and ensuring there are appropriate leaders in the correct 

positions, so that Welsh is an automatic part of workforce planning and when considering 

which skills are required.  

                                                             

1 Consultation on a Welsh Government draft strategy: a million Welsh speakers by 2050 – 1 August 2016 

Page 63



13 

Recent developments in Welsh Language Education 

9. It is the Welsh Government’s policy that all pupils should study Welsh from ages 3-16, either 

first or second language. Approximately 16 per cent of pupils attend Welsh-medium schools and 

study Welsh as a first language. A further 10 per cent attend bilingual, dual-medium, or English with 

significant Welsh provision. Welsh Government statistics show that in 2014, 22.2 percent of 7 year old 

learners were assessed through the medium of Welsh first language and 17.1 per cent of 14 year olds 

were assessed in Welsh first language.  

10. In 2014/15, there were 391 Welsh-medium primary schools in Wales, alongside 39 dual 

stream schools, 33 English schools with significant use of Welsh, and 862 English-medium schools. 

During the same period, there were 23 Welsh-medium secondary schools, 27 bilingual schools, 9 

English schools with significant use of Welsh, and 148 English-medium secondary schools. Further 

information about the linguistic categorisation of schools can be seen in this Research Service 

Briefing.  

Welsh Medium Education 

11. The Welsh Government launched its Welsh-medium Education Strategy (WMES) in April 2010. 

It set out a new policy agreement with local authorities that required them to assess the demand for 

Welsh-medium education. This was later made a duty in the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013.  

12. The strategy sets out six strategic aims and a number of objectives within them:  

 To improve the planning of Welsh-medium provision in the pre-statutory and statutory 

phases of education, based on informed parental demand;  

 To improve the planning of Welsh-medium provision in the post-14 phases of education and 

training, taking account of linguistic progression and continuing development of skills;  

 To ensure that all learners develop their Welsh language skills to their full potential, and 

encourage sound linguistic progression from one phase of education and training to the 

next;  

 To ensure a Welsh-medium education workforce that provides sufficient numbers of 

practitioners for all phases of education and training, with high-quality Welsh language skills 

and competence in teaching methodologies;  

 To improve the central support mechanisms for Welsh-medium education and training; and  

 To contribute to the acquisition and reinforcement of Welsh language skills in families and in 

the community.  

13. The WMES includes national targets and the Welsh Government publishes an annual report to 

update on progress. Targets in local authority Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs) are 

intended to support the delivery of the Welsh Government’s overarching targets in the WMES.  

14. In March 2016 the Welsh Government published Welsh-medium Education Strategy: Next 

Steps, which outlined its three main objectives for developing Welsh-medium and Welsh language 

education over the following 12 months:  

Page 64



14 

 The need to embed processes for planning Welsh-medium provision: strengthening 

strategic planning processes for all phases of education and training continues to be a 

priority;  

 The need for improved workforce planning and support for practitioners: ensuring a 

sufficient workforce for Welsh-medium education and training is vital; and  

 The need to ensure that young people have the confidence to use their Welsh language 

skills in all walks of life: education and training alone cannot guarantee that speakers 

become fluent in Welsh, or choose to use the language in their everyday lives.  

15. The Welsh Government’s Welsh-medium Education Strategy required local authorities to 

submit Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs), to measure demand for Welsh-medium education 

and outline their targets to the Welsh Government. The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) 

Act 2013 placed WESPs on a statutory footing. Following the implementation of the Act, local 

authorities were required to produce their first statutory WESPs for the period 2014-2017. The Act 

placed a duty upon local authorities to consult on, produce and publish a WESP to be submitted for 

approval of, and monitoring by, Welsh Ministers. It provided for Welsh Ministers to make regulations 

about WESPs and subsequently the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and Assessing Demand for 

Welsh Medium Education (Wales) Regulations 2013 came into force on 31 December 2013. 

Welsh as a subject  

16. Following the introduction of the Education Reform Act 1988, Welsh was phased in as a 

compulsory subject for pupils aged 5-14 (Key Stages 1, 2 and 3) from 1990. From September 1999 

onwards, Welsh also became compulsory at ages 14-16 (Key Stage 4). With the introduction of the 

Foundation Phase in 2011, Welsh or Welsh Language Development is also taught to all 3-7 year olds.  

17. The National Curriculum for Wales is made up of core and foundation subjects, which are listed 

in the Education Act 2002.  

18. The core subjects for Key Stages 1-3 are Mathematics; Science; English; and Welsh first 

language (in relation to Welsh-speaking schools, as stated in the Education Act 2002).  

19. The foundation subjects are Technology; Physical education; History; Geography; Art; Music; 

Welsh second language (if the school is not a Welsh-speaking school, as stated in the Education Act 

2002); and for Key Stage 3, a Modern foreign language.  

20. The core subjects at Key Stage 4 are Welsh first language; Mathematics; English; and Science. 

The foundation subjects are Physical education; and Welsh second language.  

21. Although the study of Welsh first language or Welsh second language as a subject is 

compulsory, deciding on the type of qualification is a matter for schools and is done at a local level. At 

present at Key Stage 4, schools register pupils either for a Welsh first language GCSE, Welsh second 

language GCSE (full course), Welsh second language GCSE (short course), or for no qualification at all. 

The Welsh Government’s One Language For All: Review of Welsh Second Language at Key Stages 3 

and 4 (2013) states that, although Welsh is a compulsory subject in the national curriculum, it is not 

compulsory to enter pupils to sit a GCSE examination or any other qualification.  

22. The Welsh Government, in collaboration with the WJEC and other stakeholders, is in the 

process of developing a revised model for GCSE Welsh second language (full course) to be introduced 

in September 2017. The GCSE Welsh second language short course will be withdrawn once the 

Page 65



15 

revised full course model is introduced, with the last assessment opportunity for the short course 

being in summer 2018.  

23. In July 2012, the then Education Minister established the Welsh Second Language Review 

Group - to review Welsh second language provision at Key Stages 3 and 4. The Group’s report One 

Language For All – Review of Welsh Second Language at Key Stages 3 and 4 (2013), highlighted a 

number of issues that the Group felt needed to be addressed to improve standards in Welsh second 

language, including:  

 Pupils do not continue to develop their Welsh skills well enough on transition to Key Stages 2 

and 3;  

 The time allocated to teaching the subject is not sufficient, and in some schools, the 

allocation is as little as one hour a fortnight;  

 Many teachers in primary schools lack confidence and ability to teach Welsh second 

language;  

 Too many pupils who follow the GSCE Welsh second language short course are entered for 

the foundation tier though they are capable of gaining A*- B grades which cannot be 

achieved in the foundation tier;  

 In most schools, there are not enough opportunities for pupils to hear and practise using the 

language beyond formal Welsh lessons; and  

 In too many secondary schools, the subject is taught by non-specialist teachers who lack a 

thorough understanding of second language teaching methodology.  

24. The Welsh Government’s response to the Review Group’s report stated that it would ask 

Professor Donaldson to consider those recommendations relating to the curriculum as part of his 

independent review of the curriculum and assessment arrangements. 

25. The then Minister provided a further update on the progress made towards the 

implementation of these recommendations in October 2015, following the publication of Professor 

Donaldson’s Independent Review of Curriculum and Assessment Arrangements in Wales report – 

Successful Futures.  

26. The Minister stated that Successful Futures makes 10 recommendations relating to the Welsh 

language in the curriculum, and that these respond directly to the key recommendations made by 

the Welsh Second Language Review Group. All these recommendations have been accepted by the 

Minister, including that Welsh will remain compulsory in all schools up to the age of 16.  

27. According to the then Minister, the new curriculum should see a renewed focus on learning 

Welsh primarily as a means of communication, particularly oral communication and understanding. 

Further, the Welsh Government intends to enhance the value attached to the Welsh language by 

strengthening the focus on its commercial value for the jobs market, the apparent cognitive benefits 

of bilingualism and its importance in enabling children and young people to have a good 

understanding of the cultural life of Wales in the past and the present. 

28. The Welsh Government identified its first objective in the draft strategy as creating a workforce 

with the appropriate skills to educate and provide services through the medium of Welsh.  

Page 66



16 

29. A significant proportion of the evidence received focussed on the broad aspects of the 

strategy itself, with many expressing concerns with the emphasis within the strategy, the clarity and 

detail provided, and the lack of targets and milestones that would enable the Welsh Government to 

measure the success of the strategy.  

Our View 

At the outset, we want to make clear that we support the overall ambition in the draft strategy of a 

million Welsh speakers in Wales by the year 2050. However, despite the desire for the strategy to 

succeed, the level of change required cannot simply be wished into existence.  It will require hard 

work, considerable additional resources and clear thinking if the aim of the strategy is to be reached. 

Our recommendations are mainly concerned with the practicalities of how the ambition can be 

turned into reality. 

  

Page 67



17 

 Targets and Milestones 

30. Several contributors to the inquiry felt that the draft strategy is lacking in clear and detailed 

targets and milestones that would allow the progress of the strategy to be assessed. Cymdeithas yr 

Iaith suggested a range of specific targets and milestones, which are set out in their published 

submission to the Committee. Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol suggested annual targets should be set 

for the number of university graduates who undertake a proportion of their studies through the 

medium of Welsh. 

31. Other contributors stressed the need for measurable milestones and targets, particularly 

covering 5-year intervals from its adoption and felt that the draft strategy is lacking in clear and 

detailed targets and milestones that would allow the progress of the strategy to be assessed. 

32. Cymdeithas yr Iaith for instance wrote that there is a need to: 

i) Set sub-targets for every decade, or ideally every five years, outlining 

milestones on the way to achieving a million Welsh speakers;  

ii) Aim towards an ambitious target for 2041 that gives flexibility to 

increase the target for 2051, and, in addition, gives greater assurance that 

growth in the number and percentage of Welsh speakers is sufficient to reach a 

million by 2050.2  

33. Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol seemed to concur with this view: 

It is important to set clear milestones and targets along the way in order to be 

able to monitor progress and achievements…it will be necessary to publish a 

full action plan, and that specific targets and milestones should be set for the 

first 5, 10 and 15 years of the strategy in order to measure the progress of the 

schemes introduced.3 

34. Referring to the vision for a million Welsh speakers by 2050, Estyn’s Chief Inspector said:  

I would say that there is a need for a detailed plan. That’s what’s not available 

at the moment. On a national level, there would need to be clear targets on 

what’s intended to be achieved between now and 2050. 

35. Huw O Jones posed questions for the Minister in his consultation response: 

Why will growth be slower at the beginning of the period? Alun, are you able to 

publish a graph or table showing how many new Welsh speakers will need to 

be created every year between now and 2050 to reach the target of a million 

fluent Welsh speakers?4  

                                                             

2 This is a translation of text that was originally submitted in Welsh.  The original text can be found on our web pages at 

www.assembly.wales/seneddCWLC 
3 See footnote 2 
4 Ibid 

Page 68

http://www.assembly.wales/seneddCWLC


18 

36. The Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language appeared before the Committee on 14 

September 2016, before publishing the draft strategy. During that scrutiny session, the Minister 

stated the following: 

We do have to have milestones and targets put in place…and those should be 

targets for the impact that we’re going to have, and also of what we are going to 

do over the next few years, and, say, the next five years, the next 10 years…So 

you will see targets and a timetable when you see the new strategy next year.5  

37. During the Minster’s scrutiny session on 18th January 2017, he re-iterated the fact that there 

will be a framework of targets published simultaneously with the strategy.6 However, because targets 

and milestones were not included in the draft strategy, there was no opportunity for stakeholders to 

comment on them during the consultation process or the Committee to scrutinise the Minister on 

the feasibility of the targets. 

Our View 

While few will oppose the overall aim of the strategy, there has to be some assessment of how 

practicable that aim is, particularly if it is unlikely to be achieved without significant investment and 

culture change.  

We can understand that final targets and milestones cannot be set until the strategy itself is finalised.  

However, it would have been helpful if the Welsh Government had provided some initial assessment 

of, for instance, how many additional school places and teachers might be needed.  The lack of any 

meaningful outline of possible targets and milestones in the consultation draft has made it difficult 

for consultees, and the Committee, to make an informed assessment of how realistic the overall aim 

of the strategy might be. 

As well as milestones and targets, it would be helpful if the Welsh Government could provide 

information on whether different interventions and emphases are intended in different phases of the 

strategy. For example, will there be a greater focus on nursery and early years education initially or on 

upskilling teachers of Welsh in “English-medium” schools? 

When targets are set they should be outcome-focussed.  The Welsh Government should also publish 

its assumptions, about the increase over time it expects in numbers of new Welsh speakers as a result 

of its proposed interventions, so that stakeholders can engage with it. 

This suggests that a further period of consultation will be needed once the strategy is ‘finalised’ so 

that proper account can be taken of the assumptions underlying the strategy and how realistic and 

measurable the proposed targets and milestones are. 

Recommendation 1.  We recommend that the Government should publish its 

underlying assumptions about the increase in Welsh speakers it expects from its proposed 

interventions and consults further on detailed, outcome-focussed, targets and milestones 

before adopting them for the new strategy.   

                                                             

5 Committee transcript: 14 September 2016 para 182 
6 Committee transcript: 18 January 2017 para 142 & 143 

Page 69



19 

 Emphasis of Strategy 

38. On the whole, contributors to the inquiry believed that the emphasis placed on education to 

enable the Government to reach the target of a million Welsh speakers by 2050 is reasonable. After 

all, if the Welsh Government is to reach its target of a million Welsh speakers, then it is reasonable to 

think that it is through this route that a significant proportion of new Welsh speakers will be created. 

39. However, a number of contributors expressed a view that the emphasis on education should 

not be at the expense of other areas of Welsh language development. Aberystwyth University for 

example noted that: 

Education is an area which is mainly associated with language acquisition, 

while areas such as community, social life and the workplace are mainly 

associated with language use. Due to the focus placed on education, there is 

reason to conclude that the types of interventions considered in the 

consultation document do not succeed in striking the appropriate balance 

between increasing the number of speakers and increasing the use of the 

language.7  

40. Cymdeithas yr Iaith also stressed the need to ensure that workforce planning and language 

acquisition did not come at the expense of other important factors stating that  

It is important that politicians do not forget their commitment to the other two 

objectives regarding use of the Welsh language and outward migration.8 

41. While much of the emphasis within the strategy is on creating a million Welsh speakers, some 

question whether there should be greater emphasis on creating demand for Welsh medium 

education. Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg and the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) made 

the following points: 

Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg 

In terms of wider targets to normalise the Welsh language across the whole 

education system, targets must be considered not only to ‘respond to demand’ 

but to lead and create demand.9 

 

WLGA 

In addition to meeting demand for Welsh medium education and capacity 

within English medium schools for Welsh learning, there is also a need to 

create demand if the target of 1 million speakers by 2050 is to be met. 

42. There were several references made to ensuring that not all the focus of workforce planning is 

directed towards the education sector alone. Swyddle, a private Welsh language recruitment 

specialist stated in their response that there is: 

                                                             

7 See footnote 2 
8 Ibid 
9 Ibid 

Page 70



20 

An emphasis in the Strategy on the supply of the teaching workforce, but there 

is also need to cultivate a demand in the wider workforce, incentivising the use 

of Welsh beyond the classroom. Any language strategy should have a 

social/cultural approach (opportunities outside of work) but also an economic 

approach (work, incentivised, business champions and role models). 

43. Mudiad Meithrin also mentioned a need to plan across sectors, not only within education: 

We note that there is a need to increase the number of people who can work 

through the medium of Welsh in a number of areas and specialised services.  

We suggest that there is a need to prioritise this in order to provide a proactive 

Welsh-language service across the wider public sector and in other 

businesses.10 

44. A few contributors also expressed concerns that the strategy focusses predominantly on the 

work of Welsh Government in respect of language planning, and fails to identify the contributions of 

other important stakeholders and organisations in ensuring the aims of the strategy are achieved: 

Aberystwyth University 

There is some ambiguity in the consultation document as to the exact nature of 

the proposed strategy […] a detailed analysis of the content of the rest of the 

document shows that Welsh Government activity is considered and 

emphasised above all else. For example, there is little reference to other 

important actors such as local government, third sector bodies and civil society 

bodies.11 

 

WLGA 

It is essential to identify those organisations that can help deliver on this 

strategy; ensure clarity of agreed outcomes and accountability. Funding 

streams should be similarly aligned and be sustainable in the medium to long 

term. 

45. Some contributors did however note caution in respect of the Welsh Government’s aim:  

Milford Haven Town Council 

Whilst it is a laudable aim to promote the Welsh language for those who are 

interested and who live in those parts of the country where it is widely spoken 

it is unrealistic to aim for almost a quarter of the total population of Wales and 

to promote it at a time when many main services are being savagely cut…to 

promote further Welsh medium education and Welsh medium schools with 

enhanced facilities whilst forcing the closure and/or amalgamation of English 

medium schools reeks of bias and favouritism. 

 

                                                             

10 See footnote 2  
11 ibid 

Page 71



21 

WLGA 

The Strategy will also require adequate resourcing. It is essential that the 

Strategy also recognises and acknowledges the variation across local 

authorities in Wales in terms of the number of Welsh speakers and the capacity 

for those areas to significantly increase the numbers, or proportion of Welsh 

speakers. 

 

Wrexham County Borough Council 

The Council is realistic in that this is a hugely ambitious aim and is concerned 

that without proper, sustained and thorough planning at a national level that it 

may not be achieved. 

Our View – The role of Welsh-medium Education 

The draft strategy places the central challenge of achieving the aim of a million Welsh speakers by 

2050 squarely on the shoulders of the Welsh medium education sector. On the whole, those who 

contributed to our inquiry agreed that this was a reasonable approach. We share the view that any 

successful strategy will need to draw heavily on the Welsh-medium education system to generate 

significant numbers of the new Welsh speakers that will be needed to reach the target. As a first step 

in this, it is crucial that the current level of demand for Welsh-medium education is met.  

Some voices did express caution however. As Aberystwyth University noted, the right balance needs 

to be struck between increasing the number of speakers and increasing the use of the language. In 

our view, while Welsh-medium education has shown it is very successful in producing new Welsh 

speakers, there is a danger that an over reliance on the education system may result in the language 

being pigeon-holed as the language of education, which might be counter-productive. We are not 

convinced that this balance has been struck in the Welsh Government’s consultation document. 

We are also not convinced that stimulating further demand for Welsh-medium education is the only 

intervention that can succeed or is needed. The emphasis on this sector needs to be weighed in the 

balance along with other interventions. These include investment in Cylchoedd Meithrin and 

expanding the workforce to teach Welsh to a high standard in English-medium schools. It is important 

that the Welsh Government establishes which interventions makes the best contribution to meeting 

the strategy goals and prioritises resources accordingly. 

More than that, if there is a serious ambition to get a million people not only speaking Welsh, but 

using it in their communities, then we need to ensure that there are a range of policies, in addition to 

the education field, that support the community and social use of the language. This cannot rely on 

Government intervention alone.  All stakeholders, including local government and public sector 

organisations, the third sector and private businesses need to buy in and commit to the strategy 

goals and come forward with the most ambitious commitments they feel able to make, towards 

meeting them - so that they too are accountable. 

There should, therefore, alongside the emphasis on Welsh-medium education, be a very clear 

emphasis in the final strategy on community, social life and workplace policies that help encourage a 

living and vibrant use of the language in all aspects of modern Welsh life.  

Page 72



22 

Recommendation 2.  We recommend that the final strategy should give due weight to 

the importance of nurturing language use in communities, in social life and in workplaces. 

This should be done alongside language acquisition through Welsh-medium education, 

early years education and improving the quality of Welsh language teaching in English-

medium schools and Welsh language outcomes for pupils. 

Our View – Promotion of Welsh  

We discuss funding in more detail later.  However, whatever the final balance is between language 

acquisition and language use, it is worth noting that the additional resources that will be needed for 

Welsh-medium education are likely to be significant if the target is to be reached. 

Apart from the additional resources that will be needed, another challenge that will need to be met is 

possible resistance from communities to such an expansion in Welsh-medium education.  It is difficult 

to see how such a significant cultural shift can be achieved without the active support of parents and 

communities and a wider public debate about relative public spending priorities. 

There is, therefore a need to reach out to those who are not currently engaged with the language or 

the aims of the strategy. It will be important to persuade communities - particularly new parents - and 

young people of the benefits of a bilingual education. The proposed new Agency for the Promotion of 

Welsh will have a clear role to play in this area and it will be important that it has a clear focus on 

helping deliver the strategy from its establishment.  

Recommendation 3.  We recommend that the proposed new Agency for the 

Promotion of Welsh has a clear focus from the outset in helping deliver the overall 

strategic aim of a million Welsh speakers particularly through helping parents understand 

the benefits of a bilingual education and of learning Welsh in schools outside the Welsh-

medium sector. 

  

Page 73



23 

 Workforce Planning 

46. In terms of this inquiry, workforce planning could be separated into three streams, that is:  

 workforce planning in terms of teachers and practitioners able to teach through the medium 

of Welsh;  

 workforce planning in terms of identifying in specified sectors for Welsh language skills; and  

 workforce planning on a national level - requiring Welsh language skills audits across all 

sectors in Wales.  

Teachers and practitioners 

47. As the focus of the inquiry was specifically on the education workforce, it is not surprising that 

the focus of contributors to the inquiry was on workforce planning across the education sector:   

Qualifications Wales 

An important first step will be for Welsh Government to gain a full 

understanding of the current capacity and capability in relation to Welsh 

language skills across the education workforce. 

 

Flintshire County Council  

The Welsh Government need to have a robust action plan to support the 

development of the future Welsh medium teaching workforce. Continuing in 

the same way will not produce the changes needed. There will need to be a 

radical re-think about how this can be achieved. 

 

Undeb Cenedlaethol Athrawon Cymru (UCAC) 

It could be argued that the problem of workforce planning in education is a 

long-term systemic issue. Too much is currently left to chance…It is important 

to use an effective and convenient method of gathering vital data and to do so 

as soon as possible.12  

Workforce planning – other sectors 

48. However, some contributors also made a case for Welsh Government to look at targeting 

specific sectors where Welsh language skills will be required in the future. 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

We believe that the process of identifying the needs of the future workforce 

should be identified and accelerated within different fields by considering the 

level and range of Welsh language and bilingual skills that will be needed in 

specific fields within a decade or more.13 

 

                                                             

12 See footnote 2 
13 Ibid 

Page 74



24 

Popeth Cymraeg 

It is clear that the children’s education system is the most important route in 

terms of creating Welsh speakers…Welsh for Adults, however, can do 

extremely important work in terms of targeting specific sectors.14 

49. It was also suggested by some that language planning needs to be done on a national level, 

across all sectors, and in doing so, engaging with employers across Wales about developing Welsh 

language skills in the workforce.  

Colleges Wales 

Engage with employers - across all sectors to talk about their Welsh language 

skills needs. 

 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

There is a need to develop a workforce with robust bilingual skills in every 

service area, and an attempt should be made to set specific targets in terms of 

the number of workers who are able to work bilingually across the sectors.15 

 

Wrexham County Borough Council 

The Council is prepared and willing to work towards increasing the number of 

bilingual children and young people but would welcome a commitment from 

the Welsh Government that its efforts will be rewarded and that the planning 

for future bilingual jobs is done on a national level across the whole range of 

sectors. 

50. Some contributors were of the view that there is a greater need to work with the private 

sector, engaging with businesses and providing support to maintain and develop their Welsh 

language/bilingual ability.   

Swyddle 

The Welsh language has a far better chance of evolving and surviving in a 

globalised world by truly becoming a language of business and commerce.  

The work of the Welsh Language and Economic Development Task and Finish 

Group (2014) has provided some basis for a strategic approach.  The Welsh 

Government’s response mentioned the language as an ‘additional tool that 

provides the cutting edge over competitors’ but the marketing strategies would 

be well served by emphasising the added value of the language. 

 

Colleges Wales 

Must engage a new audience strategically – work with private sector (provider 

of services), retail, tourism and hospitality, business representative bodies – 

FSB, CBI, IOD [Federation of Small Businesses, Confederation of British 

                                                             

14 See footnote 2 
15 Ibid 

Page 75



25 

Industry, Institute of Directors] -what skills are they looking for, and respond to 

these needs. 

51. In his evidence to the Committee, the Minister was of the view that there was a need to 

encourage and enable businesses to develop and expand their Welsh language ability, the ‘carrot’ 

approach rather than the stick. 

My inclination is always that we should cajole, sometimes persuade, 

encourage, enable—’enable’ is the most powerful, of course; ‘enable’ is always 

the most powerful—help people. You know, the role of Government could well 

be, for example, to help a small business owner to produce bilingual signs, 

signage and the rest of it; it could be to provide a larger business with support 

in delivering what would be a bilingual proposition to potential customers.16  

52. The Minister also spelled out his hopes about developing Welsh within the private sector.  

I hope that, as we normalise, if you like, the use of the Welsh language in other 

parts of the society and the community, business itself will feel able to be a part 

of that. It is not my intention to simply use compulsion at every 

opportunity…As a Welsh speaker, I know that the bilingual policies that work 

easiest for me are bilingual policies that are delivered by people who care and 

are doing it because they think it’s the right [thing] to do, because it’s part of 

their business model, it’s part of who they are, rather than somebody who’s just 

compelled to put up a bilingual sign.17  

53. Only two written evidence submissions were received from private sector businesses to the 

inquiry. 

Our View – Teachers and Practitioners 

Earlier we set out our view that due weight needs to be given within the strategy to nurturing 

language use in areas other than Welsh-medium education.  But, there is little doubt that if the 

strategy is to achieve its overall aim, there will need to be a considerable expansion of those receiving 

a bilingual education and of the education workforce able to teach through the medium of Welsh.  We 

make further specific recommendations in this area later in the report.  

However, we are not convinced that the Welsh Government has sufficiently robust information on the 

scale of the task and how it might be addressed. The sort of expansion of provision needed seems 

unlikely to be achieved without having a clear idea of: 

− The number of additional teachers and other practitioners that will be needed in future to teach 

through the medium of Welsh; 

− How many of them will come from those already in the workforce and how many will need to be 

new recruits;  

                                                             

16 Committee transcript: 18 January 2017 para 314 
17 Ibid – para 308 

Page 76



26 

− The training requirements involved, including lead times; and  

− Whether the policy levers to encourage this sort of expansion are currently in place. 

There is no doubt a range of other questions, not least the financial resources required, that will also 

need to be addressed. However, the first step is for the Welsh Government to set out clearly what it 

believes the additional requirements to be and how it intends to meet these needs. 

Recommendation 4.  We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out as an 

urgent priority: 

− Its assessment of how many additional teachers able to teach through the medium 

of Welsh will be needed to achieve the strategy’s overall aim; 

− When those teachers will be needed; and 

− How it will identify, recruit and train those teachers for when they are needed. 

Our View – Other sectors 

As we have said previously, while the education system may be the most important strand of the 

strategy, there is little point in increasing the numbers of Welsh speakers if they don’t use the 

language. A vibrant community language requires opportunities for its use in all aspects of Welsh life, 

particularly in workplaces.   

In the public sector, the statutory requirements within the Welsh Language Measure 2011 are likely 

to mean that employers will need increased Welsh speaker resource in order to provide the service 

standards required by the Measure.   

There are however, some parts of the public sector such as the social care workforce where a more 

proactive approach may be needed.  

If Welsh is not to be seen as simply the language of education and the public sector, then there is a 

need to help businesses in Wales to use the language. The Minister talked of enabling and helping 

businesses to develop and expand their Welsh language ability; the carrot rather than the stick 

approach. We agree with this view. While, there may be a need to enforce specific standards on some 

larger businesses, we believe that businesses should be encouraged and helped to use and expand 

their use of the Welsh language. A key part of the strategy should, therefore, focus on what practical 

help and assistance can be provided centrally to help businesses increase their use of Welsh in the 

workplace. 

Recommendation 5.  We recommend that the Welsh Government considers what 

additional help and support it needs to provide to private sector employers and businesses 

to enable them to develop and expand their Welsh language provision as part of meeting 

the overall aim of the strategy. 

  

Page 77



27 

 Financial resource 

54. Financial resource was a theme throughout the oral evidence sessions and via written 

evidence submissions. On a broad level, contributors were of the view that in order to achieve the 

target of a million Welsh speakers by 2050, the Welsh Government would need to provide the 

required additional financial resource. Contributors identified the need for additional resource to 

allow for increasing capacity within the Welsh medium education sector, but also resource for Welsh 

language planning in the wider context.  

One Voice Wales 

“One Voice Wales recognises that this ambition will be extremely difficult to 

realise without a significant injection of resources.” 

 

Wrexham County Borough Council 

In order for the Welsh Government to achieve its aim, the Council considers 

that this will not be possible without proper investment over the lifetime of the 

project…additional money is already being put aside in order to implement the 

Welsh Language Standards and Welsh medium education. 

 

Qualifications Wales 

To realise the ambitious target of one million Welsh speakers by 2050, the 

Welsh language strategy will have to be carefully planned and sufficiently 

resourced. 

 

Cymdeithas yr Iaith 

For the strategy to succeed, there has to be sufficient investment … as a total, 

we believe, over time, that there is a need for over £100 million a year in order 

for sufficient plans to be put to work properly.18 

55. Flintshire County Council called for additional or specific financial resource in areas where the 

percentage of Welsh speakers is low:  

Welsh Government should consider providing additional financial support to 

Local Authorities, particularly in those areas where there are low numbers/ 

percentages of Welsh speakers to ensure their successful implementation. 

56. However, University of South Wales in their written evidence suggested that in order to make 

significant progress there needs to be:  

Significant investment in Welsh-medium schools across Wales, particularly in 

areas where there is a demand and the potential to increase the number of 

Welsh speakers significantly. 

                                                             

18 See Footnote 2 

Page 78



28 

57. In response to a question during Committee on the financial resource available to deliver the 

strategy, the Minister stated that he was satisfied with the funds available: 

I am content with the current situation, and we have weekly and monthly 

discussions with other Ministers to discuss the financial situation and future 

budgets…I am confident we have the necessary resources.19 

Our View 

Cymdeithas yr Iaith Cymraeg in their evidence call for over £100 million a year to put the relevant 

plans to work. The Welsh Government needs to assess whether additional funding of this scale will be 

needed but it is difficult to see how the aim of the strategy can be achieved without significant new 

funding or the reordering of current spending priorities or both. The Welsh government also needs to 

consider whether it has the right projected balance between promoting language acquisition and the 

funding of Welsh-language services in the public sector. 

We are not in a position to estimate exactly how much extra funding is necessary but it is not 

implausible that very significant additional spending will be needed over the lifetime of the strategy.  

In addition, if the strategy is to be successful the bulk of the extra resources may need to be used up-

front so that there is time for the funding to produce results.   

An example from Mudiad Meithrin illustrates the scale of resources that may be needed. They 

estimate that an additional 650 of their groups will be needed to support the strategy. Each group 

costs around £17,000 to establish and a further £40,000 a year to run. That’s around £11 million in 

total start-up costs and annual running costs that will reach £26 million. These figures may well be 

overestimates. Nevertheless, they show the possible scale of spending that may be needed to 

support just one aspect of the strategy. 

The Minister’s response, that he is confident that he has the necessary resources, would be reassuring 

if it was supported by a clear assessment of what resources will be needed and when.  So far, we have 

seen no such assessment nor have we seen any commitment that the resources to deliver this 

strategy will be in addition to current spending on Education, so that other educational priorities are 

not distorted.   

If the Minister’s confidence is based on internal Welsh Government figures, then now is the time to 

publish those figures so that there can be a proper debate around the level of funding that will be 

needed and how realistic that is.   

Recommendation 6.  We recommend that the Welsh Government publishes as a 

matter of urgency it’s assessment of the additional resources that will be needed to support 

the strategic aim of 1 million Welsh speakers by the year 2050. This should include the 

projected profile of spending over the early part of the strategy and an assessment of the 

comparative cost of what the various interventions that will be required are likely to be. 

  

                                                             

19 Committee transcript: 18 January 2017 para 317 

Page 79



29 

 Early years provision 

58. The pre-statutory care sector is considered by many contributors as key in creating new Welsh 

speakers and developing skills and confidence in using the language. This is the sector responsible for 

providing care for under-fives – an age when language acquisition happens quickly and naturally. 

Research has shown20 that as many as 11 per cent of all Welsh speakers learnt the language at 

nursery, with a fluency rate of 50 per cent amongst those speakers. This is higher than the levels of 

fluency amongst those learning the language at primary school, secondary school or somewhere else 

apart from the home. 

59. For many contributors, this sector requires specific targeting of resources. The language 

acquisition and skills learnt at this very early age appear to be critical as children move through the 

education system and into further or higher education and eventually the workplace.  

Estyn 

Ensuring Welsh medium education in early years is fundamentally 

important…It is accepted that the earlier a child comes in to contact with the 

language, the more likely he or she is to become fluent. 

 

Mudiad Meithrin 

We welcome the acknowledgement in the draft strategy that the early years are 

vital in a child’s journey towards Welsh-language fluency…we suggest that the 

need to prioritise growth in the number of children in receipt of Welsh-medium 

care and education should be one of the development areas in this strategy.21 

 

Welsh Language Commissioner 

If we wish to create more fluent Welsh speakers capable of training and 

qualifying to work through the medium of Welsh in the future, both in the 

education sector and in other sectors of employment, it will first be necessary to 

increase the provision of Welsh-medium care.22 

60. In the Welsh Government’s draft strategy, it states that an additional 331 Welsh medium 

classes would be required to support the vision of the strategy. However, Mudiad Meithrin, who 

currently have 501 Cylchoedd Meithrin (Playgroups), in Wales provided an estimate of the number of 

new Cylchoedd that would be required: 

Mudiad Meithrin estimates that more than 650 new ‘cylch meithrin’ groups 

would need to be established to achieve corresponding growth in Welsh-

medium pre-school provision across Wales. 

61. This would require significant additional resource within the sector – as highlighted by Mudiad 

Meithrin during their evidence session: 

                                                             

20 Welsh Language Use in Wales, 2013-15. Welsh Government & Welsh Language Commissioner (p.52) 
21 See footnote 2 
22 Ibid  

Page 80



30 

We’ve also done some work in relation to costing-the cost of establishing a new 

cylch meithrin. It’s around £17,000; the cost of running a cylch meithrin that 

has one leader and six assistants, which offers 12 and a half hours a week, is 

around £40,000 a year.23  

62. As was noted earlier, this suggests, for an additional 650 groups, around £11 million in total 

start-up costs and annual running costs will reach £26 million.   

63. The Minister, in response to a question about Mudiad Meithrin’s assessment that an additional 

650 new ‘cylch meithrin’ groups would be required, on top of the 500 currently in place to correspond 

to growth in Welsh-medium pre-school provision said: 

We do need to have in place sufficient provision to reach our targets. We don’t 

have, at the moment − I completely accept that. I hope that the strategy we put 

in place will contain the targets that you’ve described.24  

64. The Minister also confirmed25 during the Committee session that the Welsh Government is 

planning to expand or invest in the national training scheme for early years practitioners wanting to 

work in ‘cylchoedd meithrin’ day-nurseries and Welsh-medium nursery classes in schools across 

Wales. The scheme is administered by Mudiad Meithrin through a subsidiary company, ‘Cam wrth 

Gam’. 

Our View 

In the previous section, we used the examples quoted above to illustrate the possible scale of costs 

that might be involved in expanding good quality early years provision through the medium of Welsh.  

There must be some doubt as to whether expansion of provision to the level suggested by Mudiad 

Meithrin is achievable, certainly without very significant extra spending.  Nor are we clear to what 

extent any expansion in provision will be in addition to or in place of current English language 

provision.  

However, we were convinced that it will be important to invest in additional early years provision if the 

strategy is to be successful.  It should, therefore, be a priority area when considering the need for 

additional resources.  Alongside this, given the positive impact on overall buy-in and likely language 

retention, consideration should also be given to providing free tuition in Welsh to parents who put 

their children into Welsh-language pre-school provision. 

We understand that there is currently a lack of data available on the Welsh language skills of early 

years practitioners.  Alongside prioritising the sector for additional resources, it will also be important 

to improve the information available on the skills capability of early years’ practitioners so that 

decision making on the practicalities of expanding Welsh-medium provision is better informed.   

We welcome the commitment by the Minister to expand or invest in the ‘Cam wrth Gam’ scheme to 

improve and expand training for the Welsh-medium early years workforce.  However, the Welsh 

                                                             

23 Committee transcript: 24 November 2016 para 191 
24 Committee transcript: 18 January 2017 para 249 
25 Ibid – para 208 

Page 81



31 

Government should also consider the needs of other projects and providers in the early years sector 

that support Welsh language provision, such as flying start. 

Recommendation 7.  We recommend that the Welsh Government responds 

specifically to Mudiad Meithrin’s assessment that an additional 650 new ‘cylch meithrin’ 

will be needed to support the strategy. 

Recommendation 8.  We recommend that expanding Welsh-medium early years 

provision should be a priority area when considering additional funding under the 

strategy. 

Recommendation 9.  We recommend that the Welsh Government should consider 

providing free tuition in Welsh to parents who put their children into Welsh-language pre-

school provision. 

Recommendation 10.  We recommend that the Welsh Government takes steps to 

improve the information it has available on the Welsh-medium capabilities of early years 

practitioners so that it can plan properly to ensure that practitioners have the right skill 

mix and progression opportunities to support the aims of the strategy.  

Page 82



32 

 Statutory Education Provision 

Moving schools along the language continuum 

65. Some contributors during the stakeholder session noted the enormous challenge in moving 

schools along the language continuum. One stakeholder said that this kind of change requires a 

seismic shift in mind-set on all levels in respect of Welsh medium-education. Currently, 26 per cent of 

schools (primary and secondary) are classified as Welsh medium schools, with a further 7.3 per cent 

classified as bilingual or dual stream schools.  

66. To move schools along the language continuum would require significant planning and 

resource from Welsh Government according to some contributors: 

UCAC 

Support must be provided for schools to plan to move along the continuum – 

from changing a school’s ethos to increasing Welsh-medium activities and 

teaching, workforce planning to communicate with parents.26 

 

NASUWT 

If the adventure is successful, then you would, presumably, get to a position 

where the schools in Wales would either be Welsh-medium schools or bilingual 

schools, rather than the category of English medium school…that’s a 30 year 

process.27 

 

Estyn 

You’re not shifting from no Welsh at all to completely Welsh medium; you’re 

shifting all the system up a little bit. But I agree there would be a huge amount 

of resources involved.28  

67. The Minister explained to the Committee29 that he was currently considering the matter of 

school categorisation, and accepted that great care was needed in the process of moving schools 

along the language continuum. He was unequivocal however that it is his expectation that children or 

young people reaching the age of 16 should be “Either bilingual—being able to speak both English 

and Welsh—or at least have a good grounding of Welsh”. [para 268] 

Our View 

The Welsh Government’s draft strategy says that it wants to achieve “a significant increase in the 

number of children and young people educated through the medium of Welsh or bilingually in order 

to create more speakers”.  One of the ways in which it says this will be achieved is by moving “schools 

along the language continuum to increase the availability of Welsh-medium school places”. We would 

like the Welsh Government to provide examples of good practice and models for moving schools 

                                                             

26 See footnote 2 
27 Committee Transcript: 24 November 2016 para 101 
28 Committee Transcript: 14 December 2016 para 82 
29 Committee Transcript: 18 January 2017 para 267-8 

Page 83



33 

along the categorisation continuum. Where has this worked well and should the Welsh Government 

use it as a model in other areas? 

The Minister recognised the sensitivities in this area and that considerable caution was needed in 

moving forward.  We agree with that view.  In our view, the immediate focus of the strategy should be 

on outcomes for pupils as the Minister suggested.   

Nevertheless, there will need to be a significant increase in the number of pupils receiving a Welsh-

medium or bilingual education if the strategic aim is to be met.  We acknowledge that this is likely to 

require moving some schools along the language continuum, increasing the number of bilingual and 

Welsh-medium schools. However, for us, while school re-categorisation may be necessary in some 

cases, it should not be an end in itself. It is far more important that we see an increasing number of 

pupils move along the language continuum toward fluency in Welsh.  The draft strategy as it stands 

does not provide clarity or detail as to how this might be achieved or how the need to engage with 

parents and communities will be achieved.   

Recommendation 11.  We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out in detail 

how it intends to move “schools along the language continuum” including examples of 

good practice models, with a particular focus on how it will address any concerns from 

parents and the wider community. 

Recommendation 12.  We recommend that the final strategy should emphasise the 

need to move greater number of pupils along the language continuum and how this will be 

achieved in both in all categories of schools in Wales. 

Recruitment and Retention 

68. One area of concern among some providing evidence is the recruitment and retention of 

teachers who can teach through the medium of Welsh, and who can teach Welsh as a subject. 

UCAC 

I think there is a shortage. Welsh-medium schools are finding it difficult to 

recruit. They’re finding it difficult to find Welsh speaking supply teachers.30  

 

Qualifications Wales 

A particular concern we often hear of is the shortage of teachers who are 

competent and sufficiently trained to teach the subject. 

 

Estyn 

The report concluded that ‘a few schools, particularly Welsh-medium schools 

and those located in rural or economically deprived areas, have difficulty 

finding suitable supply teachers. 

69. One border county also expressed concerns about the recruitment of teachers to teach 

through the medium of Welsh in their area: 

                                                             

30 Committee Transcript: 24 November 2016 para 47 

Page 84



34 

Flintshire County Council 

There is a significant shortage of teachers able to work through the medium of 

Welsh, for example, physics and chemistry. The local Welsh medium 

secondary school has found a lack of suitably qualified teachers in core 

subjects over the last three years. 

70. The Education Workforce Council (EWC) accept there is significant work to do in terms of 

increasing the talent pool within Welsh language education:  

Welsh language and Welsh medium—it’s always been more difficult to get the 

numbers. So, you’re absolutely right. With that target of 2050 in mind, the first 

thing we need to do is to try and get that talent pool larger, because it’s always 

been harder to get Welsh-speaking teachers.31  

71. The issue of retention is also particularly acute in the early years sector according to those 

working within the sector: 

Mudiad Meithrin 

We have a challenge in that we have excellent individuals, they upskill, they 

have higher qualifications, but then they move on to the statutory sector.32 

 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

There is no doubt that specific plans are needed to significantly increase the 

number of early years teachers and practitioners who are able to speak Welsh 

and who are confident in using the language in their work.33 

72. According to EWC data, around 33 per cent of teachers in Wales can speak Welsh, but only 27 

per cent teach through the medium of Welsh. This suggests that around 5-6 per cent of teachers 

currently within the system could be encouraged or assisted to move to Welsh-medium teaching 

relatively quickly. 

Our View 

We received a consistent message that there is a shortage of teachers able to teach through the 

medium of Welsh or who can teach Welsh as a subject.  The 5-6 per cent of current teachers who 

speak Welsh but don’t teach in Welsh may be a relatively ready resource that can boost the availability 

of Welsh-medium teachers in the short term.  While the availability of this pool of teachers is not a 

panacea, it may be a firm starting point for helping meet the extra demand that is likely to be required 

if the overall aim of doubling the number of Welsh speakers is to be reached. However, later in this 

report, we express our doubts about the efficacy of the ‘Sabbatical scheme’, which is meant to help 

increase the supply of practitioners who can teach through the medium of Welsh.  This scheme needs 

to be evaluated before we can be sure of the contribution it might make in future.  

                                                             

31 Committee Transcript: 30 November 2016 para 186 
32 See footnote 2 
33 Ibid 

Page 85



35 

Medium to longer-term requirements will need to be addressed through increasing the supply of 

teachers able and willing to teach through the medium of Welsh.  This may need to include improving 

in-service training opportunities and encouraging more teachers to learn Welsh to a standard where 

they can teach it, at least as a second language.  However, the additional demand implied by the 

overall aim of the strategy suggests that other ways of meeting it will also need to be found.   

If the demand is to be met then the number of Welsh speaking students entering Initial Teacher 

Training may need to significantly increase.  This contrasts with the decline in first year enrolments on 

ITT courses in Wales in recent years when the policy has been to reduce the number of new entrants. 

It is not clear how this might be achieved but it is clearly a matter which the Welsh Government needs 

to address if the strategy is to be a success. 

Recommendation 13.  We recommend that the Welsh Government evaluates the 

efficacy of its current scheme for improving the level of Welsh of practicing teachers and 

sets out a projected timescale for how Welsh speaking teachers, who do not currently 

teach in Welsh, can be encouraged to do so including providing more opportunities:  

− for them to transfer to Welsh medium education; and  

− for mentoring and others schemes to help build confidence in their ability in 

Welsh. 

Recommendation 14.  We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out clearly: 

− how many additional teachers able to teach Welsh as a subject and teach through 

the medium of Welsh will be needed to achieve the strategy’s overall aim; 

− when they will be needed; and 

− how many of these additional teachers will be drawn from the existing teaching 

workforce and how many through initial teacher training or other routes into the 

profession. 

Recommendation 15.  We recommend that that the Welsh Government considers how 

it can increase the supply of Welsh speaking students entering initial teacher training or 

other entry routes into the profession taking into account any wider recruitment 

implications this may for recruiting teachers both within Wales and in competition with 

other parts of the UK. 

Learning Support Staff 

73. The Education Workforce Council among others also highlighted the need to consider the 

entire education workforce, including learning support staff. Learning support staff account for just 

under half of education staff in Wales with 28,839 registered school learning support staff as of 31 

August 2016. There are 35,450 school teachers currently registered in Wales: 

Education Workforce Council 

As the demand for learning support staff grows, we would urge policy makers 

to take into account the composition of the entire workforce. 

Page 86



36 

74. At present, little is known of the Welsh language skills of learning support staff – many 

stakeholders were of the view that understanding the linguistic skills of this sector would be crucial in 

informing and developing the strategy. 

75. In order to support the strategy’s aims, it is important to make teaching as a whole, and 

particularly in terms of this strategy, teaching through the medium of Welsh, as attractive as possible 

to learning support staff and others considering a career in teaching, and not to alienate the 

workforce in the process: 

NASUWT 

We have said in here that if you’re going to embark upon this process, then it 

needs to be considered to be an adventure, rather than a crusade, because if it’s 

a crusade, you can look at it and say you are forcing people to do this, and I 

don’t think that that would be a reasonable way forward on this.34  

 

UCAC 

So, there’s a gap there between people who say they can speak Welsh and 

people who say they can teach through the medium of Welsh. With a bit of 

encouragement, maybe that percentage, that gap, would say, ‘Well, actually, 

yes, I would be keen to contribute to changing the ethos of my school, which is 

an English-medium school, to make it more Welsh in nature.35 

Our view 

Almost half the education workforce in Wales are learning support staff and their role in delivering the 

strategy must not be underestimated.  They will be crucial if it is to be a success and the need to have 

sufficient numbers of support staff able to support Welsh–medium teaching must be given the right 

emphasis within the strategy.   

Unfortunately, there seems to be a relative paucity of information about the current language skills of 

this group of staff.  It will be important that this information gap is addressed if the skills of these 

experienced staff are to be utilised to best effect within the strategy.  

Recommendation 16.  We recommend that the Welsh Government considers the role of 

learning support staff in supporting the aims of the strategy and takes steps, along with 

Estyn and the Education Workforce Council, to establish a clearer picture of their current 

language skills to help inform future planning. 

Welsh second language education 

76. One matter raised during the inquiry was the need to improve Welsh language education 

provision across all schools in Wales, with particular reference to Welsh as a second language 

provision. The current second language qualification is in the process of being reformed:  

                                                             

34 Committee Transcript: 24 November 2016 para 7 
35 Ibid para 26 

Page 87



37 

Qualifications Wales 

As the committee will be aware from our letter36 to Welsh Assembly Members 

earlier this year, we have reformed the GCSE Welsh Second Language 

qualification for first teaching from September 2017. When it is introduced, the 

current full and short course provision will be removed. The new qualification 

will:  

− strengthen the focus on speaking and listening to ensure that learners have 

the everyday Welsh skills they need for the real world;  

− remove the reliance on narrowly defined vocabulary and topics that can 

constrain learning and attainment in the language;  

− clarify the expectation that the time dedicated to teaching should be the 

same as for other GCSEs. 

77. Understanding how the new qualification will improve the quality of Welsh second language 

education and increase the number of fluent Welsh speakers will be critical if the aims of the strategy 

is to be achieved.  

78. There are some significant hurdles for Welsh Government and those within the sector to deal 

with if Welsh second language education is to improve across schools in Wales, and increase the 

number of Welsh speakers with the skills for the future workplace. One of those hurdles relates to the 

number of school students taking A level Welsh, both first and second language. 

Estyn 

The proportion of learners taking both A level Welsh first language and A level 

Welsh second language, in comparison to the take up of their respective 

GCSEs, has declined since 2011.  Welsh Government targets for 2015 for both 

A level qualifications have not been met.  The number of entries for A level first 

language has fluctuated between around 250 and 300 since 2011.  The number 

of entries for A level Welsh second language has declined substantially over 

the same period. 

79. Another hurdle to overcome is the apparent shortage in teachers who have the skills to teach 

Welsh as a subject. The challenge for Welsh Government and all those involved in the sector 

according to Qualifications Wales should not be underestimated: 

A particular concern we often hear of is the shortage of teachers who are 

competent and sufficiently trained to teach the subject. As we have said 

previously, we consider the changes we have introduced to this qualification to 

be an initial interim step towards the removal of the distinction between Welsh 

and Welsh Second Language education and qualifications. The scale of 

challenge in terms of upskilling and expanding the education workforce should 

not therefore be underestimated. 

                                                             

36 http://qualificationswales.org/media/2063/open-letter-to-ams-on-gcse-welsh-second-language-eng.pdf  

Page 88

http://qualificationswales.org/media/2063/open-letter-to-ams-on-gcse-welsh-second-language-eng.pdf


38 

80. In his evidence to the Committee, the Minister was clear that while change is required in terms 

of Welsh second language education, it is not possible to make wholesale changes immediately: 

Some have argued that we have to get rid of this whole business of ‘second 

language’ and change immediately and quickly, and we don’t feel that we can 

do that. We don’t feel that the workforce is in a place to enable that and that’s 

why we’re doing it in the way that we are.37  

Our View 

Nearly all pupils in Wales are taught Welsh from when they enter primary school until GCSE level.  

Most of these pupils are taught in English-medium schools.  A considerable proportion of these pupils 

should, therefore, be leaving school with a good standard of proficiency in Welsh, able to 

communicate in many if not most day-to-day situations in Welsh.  Sadly, this is not borne out by lived 

experience.  Often pupils will leave school at 16 with little confidence or ability to use Welsh in 

everyday situations.   

Members of the Committee visited Bishop Gore School in Swansea and St Richard Gwyn Roman 

Catholic High School in Flint to speak to pupils about their experience of being taught Welsh second 

language.  In both schools, we found committed and enthusiastic teachers and engaging and able 

pupils who spoke honestly to us about their experience of being taught Welsh.   

Many of the pupils expressed pride in Wales and were positive about the importance of the language 

to Wales.  There was no prevalent ‘anti Welsh language’ views or attitudes.  But they also spoke of 

being disengaged from the subject, of finding it somewhat irrelevant to their daily lives with perhaps 

an over emphasis on language structure rather than everyday use.  They were enthusiastic in 

proposing ways in which Welsh could be made more relevant and interesting to their age group. 

These included the need for opportunities to use Welsh outside of the classroom in more informal 

settings.  

We have some concerns that the changes to the GCSE Welsh Second Language qualification, outlined 

above by Qualifications Wales, may prove discouraging for pupils in English-medium schools, who will 

find it harder to achieve the higher grades. Nevertheless, we welcome the changes, which will be 

introduced from September 2017. In particular, we welcome the emphasis on everyday skills for the 

real world and the removal of the full and short course option.  In the longer term, there is a need to 

ensure that we have sufficient teachers in place with the skills to ensure that the new unified Welsh 

language qualification is taught to a high standard in both Welsh and in English medium schools - this 

is an ambitious goal, how realistic and what the resource and timing implications are is still not clear. 

Clearly it is not possible to evaluate these changes now.  However, we are convinced that teaching 

Welsh second language will need to play a significant role if the number of Welsh speakers is to be 

doubled by 2050.  There must therefore be as much emphasis on transforming provision and 

outcomes of Welsh second language teaching as on increasing the numbers receiving Welsh-

medium or bilingual education. 

                                                             

37 Committee Transcript: 18 January 2017 para 236 

Page 89



39 

Recommendation 17.  We recommend that the new strategy should place equal 

emphasis on dramatically improving outcomes from Welsh second language teaching 

along with increasing the numbers receiving Welsh-medium or bilingual education. 

Recommendation 18.  We recommend that the Welsh Government sets out clearly how 

it will dramatically improve the teaching of Welsh in English-medium schools. 

Provision of Learner Resources 

81. One issue highlighted by some contributors via written submissions is the need to increase the 

provision of Welsh language learning resources for students. The inequality of the situation according 

to some can have a detrimental effect on learning outcomes for pupils and also on the workforce who 

are required to translate material for lessons: 

Qualifications Wales 

Qualifications taken only by learners in Wales present a significantly less 

attractive proposition to commercial publishers…As a consequence, the 

resources available to learners in Wales has narrowed.  This effect is 

exacerbated for Welsh-medium resources.  As a result, there needs to be a more 

effective and efficient mechanism for Welsh Government to work with others to 

facilitate the equitable provision of teaching and learning resources. 

 

UCAC 

There is, however, a more fundamental need – for the resources required to 

teach new GCSE / AS-Level / A-Level courses. The workforce should not have 

to translate resources because Welsh-language textbooks are not ready in time 

for new teaching specifications.38 

 

Welsh Language Commissioner 

Committee members will be aware that public attention has been drawn 

recently to the lack of Welsh textbooks available to support Welsh-medium 

education, the adverse effects that that has on classroom learning, and the 

extra pressure placed on teachers to have to translate textbooks from English 

into Welsh themselves.39 

Our View 

It is of concern that the provision of Welsh language learner resources may be affecting the ability of 

teachers to teach and pupils to learn.  Clearly, any strategy for increasing the number of Welsh 

speakers if it is to be successful will need to ensure that high quality teaching resources are in place 

for all learners when they are needed. 

Recommendation 19.  We recommend that the Welsh Government along with the 

WJEC reviews the provision of Welsh language learning resources for students to ensure 

                                                             

38 See footnote 2 
39 ibid 

Page 90



40 

that students receiving their education through the medium of Welsh are not 

disadvantaged.   

Page 91



41 

 Progression 

82. One theme that was mentioned on a number of occasions is linguistic progression, that is, the 

ability for a child to seamlessly progress through the different phases of Welsh medium education, 

and eventually into the workplace with the necessary Welsh language skills.  

83. The Welsh Government has committed to introducing one continuum of learning for Welsh 

language, which is broadly welcomed by contributors to the inquiry: 

Qualifications Wales 

We support the Welsh Government’s commitment to removing the distinction 

between Welsh and Welsh Second Language as part of the reforms to the 

curriculum, based on a single continuum for Welsh language acquisition and 

development. 

 

University of South Wales 

A vision that encompasses all stages of education could ensure continuity, 

consistency and ensure a language continuum that could address the 

significant decline in Welsh speakers between each phase of education. 

 

Estyn  

Maintaining continuity and progression is also critical and any strategic 

planning should seek to minimise the number of children who do not continue 

to develop their Welsh language skills to the best of their ability when they 

transfer across the key stages of education. 

84. One key aspect to the success of the language continuum for students is the Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plans (WESPs). According to Estyn, there is commitment by some local 

authorities but not others to the “development of Welsh medium education”. The Welsh Language 

Commissioner was also frank in her analysis of the first three years of the WESPs: 

Welsh Language Commissioner 

I would say that the experience of the first three years (of WESPs) was that we 

didn’t see any progress, and we have the figure for that – there’s been no 

growth. What isn’t acceptable, I think, is to allow that to happen a second time. 

We need more robust guidance from Government in gathering data and in 

putting reasonable targets in place.40 

85. The Minister himself accepts that each of the 22 new WESPs will vary considerably, with some 

plans better than others. However, he also stressed that each local authority has different pressures 

on their resources. The Minister does believe that the WESPs are an important tool, however, in 

ensuring that Welsh speakers across Wales have the same opportunity to access Welsh medium 

education.41 

                                                             

40 Committee Transcript: 14 December 2016 para 324 & 325 
41 Oral Evidence: 18 January 2017 para 218 

Page 92



42 

Our View 

We broadly welcome the concept of one language learning continuum.  Language acquisition and 

linguistic ability are not a simple binary state.  Many who say they are not Welsh speakers might claim 

greater ability for similar proficiency in other languages.   

However, we need urgent clarity on the practical detail of delivering a unified language continuum 

and single qualification, as well as the resource demands and timescales to get to the required 

workforce. We are also concerned about WESPs.  We share the concern of the Welsh Language 

Commissioner, Estyn and others about the apparent lack of progress after three years and at the 

variability within the plans.  We note that the Minister, in a written statement on 14 March, shared this 

concern and that the level of ambition he had hoped for was not as evident from the WESPs as he had 

expected.   

We note that the Minister has appointed former local authority leader and Assembly Member Aled 

Roberts to conduct a ‘rapid review’ of the current system for Welsh language education planning.  We 

welcome this and look forward to seeing his conclusions. 

  

Page 93



43 

 Upskilling and Training 

86. One critical area that a majority of contributors stated is in need of immediate attention is the 

upskilling of teachers and practitioners to be able to teach and provide services through the medium 

of Welsh. This would require significant investment and resource to allow those working in the sector 

to access training courses to develop their Welsh language skills.  

Training and the Sabbatical Scheme 

87. As was mentioned earlier in the report according to Education Workforce Council (EWC) data, 

around 33 per cent of teachers in Wales can speak Welsh, but only 27 per cent teach through the 

medium of Welsh. This would suggest some low hanging fruit of around 5-6 per cent of teachers 

within the system that could be assisted to upskill immediately: 

UCAC 

It is likely that the 2000+ teachers who do not currently feel confident enough in 

their abilities to teach through the medium of Welsh are eager to improve their 

skills so that they can make a contribution either towards enhancing the 

Welsh-language ethos of their schools or by undertaking a little teaching 

through the medium of Welsh.42 

88. However, according to Cymdeithas yr Iaith Gymraeg43 while around 27 per cent of teachers 

state that they are able to teach in Welsh, a significantly smaller percentage of teachers are actually 

teaching in Welsh; as low as 18 per cent in the secondary sector. This suggests that there may be a 

more significant pool of teachers that might be able to teach through the medium of Welsh relatively 

quickly with investment in training. 

89. According to Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol, the development of Welsh language skills among 

teachers should be seen as a part of entry expectations and CPD for the profession: 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol  

What is key is ensuring that language proficiency, and the need to develop high 

levels of Welsh-language skills, are seen as natural parts of teachers’ entry 

expectations and of the professional development of every teacher in Wales.44 

90. Again, as was mentioned earlier, this isn’t limited to the teaching profession according to 

some, but for early years practitioners and for Further Education and Work-based practitioners: 

Cymdeithas yr Iaith 

In terms of the early years, the ‘Cam wrth Gam’ scheme must be expanded and 

the Welsh language must be made a vital skill for practitioners in this field to 

facilitate, over time, a shift towards monolingual Welsh-medium provision.45 

91. An aspect of training that requires further understanding is the Sabbatical Scheme, developed 

as a pilot scheme in 2005 as part of the Welsh Government’s Welsh Language Strategy, ‘Iaith Pawb’, to 

                                                             

42 See footnote 2 
43 Written evidence para 5.4. 
44 See footnote 2 
45 Ibid 

Page 94



44 

increase the supply of practitioners who can teach through the medium of Welsh. This is an intensive 

course for teachers and practitioners who wish to develop their Welsh language teaching skills, 

confidence and specialist terminology. The course itself is open to primary and secondary teachers, 

Further Education and Work-based learning practitioners. Opportunities for supply staff and Higher 

Education lecturers are limited, and not currently accessible for learning support staff. 

92. Opinion about the effectiveness of the Sabbatical Scheme was mixed among contributors, 

although there was a range of anecdotal evidence suggesting that the scheme has been successful 

on the whole:  

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

The success of the Sabbatical Scheme, and the range of programmes provided 

through this scheme, have set a robust basis for this work.46 

 

UCAC 

The Sabbatical Scheme has seen a great deal of success…Options for 

extending the scheme should be considered, including joint provision with the 

National Centre for Learning Welsh.47 

 

Flintshire County Council 

Sabbatical schemes have proven to be successful and have had a significant 

impact. 

 

Qualifications Wales  

In addition to initial teacher training, I think there is an issue here surrounding 

building on the successes of the sabbatical programme.48  

93. However, some stakeholders were of the view that there is a need for greater evaluation of the 

long-term success of the scheme and future development by Welsh Government and relevant bodies. 

Education Workforce Council  

In recent years, various strategies (for example, the Welsh language sabbatical 

scheme) have been employed to improve Welsh language ability of people in 

the workforce in Wales; however data from the register of practitioners 

suggests that this is having limited impact upon the number of Welsh speakers 

in the education workforce, with negligible change noted since 2007. 

 

Estyn  

There has been quite a detailed report by Arad on the different sabbatical 

courses….there is evidence that teachers are much more confident in using the 

                                                             

46 See footnote 2 
47 Ibid 
48 Committee Transcript: 14 December 2016 para 24 

Page 95



45 

Welsh language after being on the course…Where there isn’t sufficient 

evidence….is the impact of that on the children’s ability in those schools. 

94. One particular weakness of the scheme identified by some is the lack of resources available to 

allow for training opportunities such as the Sabbatical Scheme and other personal development 

courses in order to improve Welsh language skills.  

EWC  

It is recognised that it is often difficult for practitioners to access professional 

development opportunities, since if these are within ordinary work hours, this 

requires back fill to cover absence from. 

 

UCAC 

The main weaknesses of the Sabbatical Scheme were the difficulties in 

releasing teachers from schools, despite the scheme’s generous conditions 

regarding paying for supply cover.49 

 

Colleges Wales  

It might be worth looking and re-evaluating the flexibility of the sabbatical 

scheme with providers and practitioners on what would work and increase 

participant levels from FE. 

 

Estyn 

The report finds that ‘nearly all schools have experienced difficulty in arranging 

suitable cover for absent class teachers.  In Welsh-medium primary schools, 

schools are often restricted in the choice and quality of supply teachers 

available.  This is due to a shortage in the number of Welsh-speaking supply 

teachers. 

95. In order for teachers and practitioners to undertake schemes such as this, it requires 

significant investment and funding. 

ATL Cymru“Without clear funding commitment for Continued Professional 

Development for current teachers, lecturers and support staff, the current 

workforce will not be able to learn or improve their Welsh language skills. 

 

University of Wales Trinity St David 

This is an expensive programme [Sabbatical Scheme], it is an ambitious 

programme, but it is a programme that works.50 

 

                                                             

49 See footnote 2 
50 Committee Transcript: 30 November 2016 para 60 

Page 96



46 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

However, the resources provided to such schemes [Sabbatical Scheme] will 

need to be increased in order to ensure a sufficient increase in the number of 

teachers who are able to teach through the medium of Welsh over the coming 

decades.51 

96. The Minister, during the budget scrutiny session, announced that some of the £5 million 

additional funding in the 2017-18 budget will be used to expand the sabbatical scheme.52  

97. A statement released by the Minister on the 25th January 201753 confirmed that £3 million of 

the additional funding would be allocated to the National Centre for Learning Welsh, with the main 

focus of the investment on “ensuring that there are opportunities for individuals to learn Welsh, in the 

public sector in the first instance, concentrating on intensive learning”. 

Our View 

The evidence we received about the Sabbatical Scheme was mixed.  Certainly, a number of witnesses 

expressed the view that it has been successful although the evidence seemed largely anecdotal.  

They pointed to teachers being much more confident in using the Welsh language after being on the 

course.  Evaluation scores for the course from those who participated also show high levels of 

satisfaction.   

However, there seemed to be little if any evidence that attendance at courses has fed through to the 

classroom, either in terms of better outcomes for pupils or in terms of increases in the number of 

Welsh speakers in the education workforce.  The Education Workforce Council in particular noted 

“negligible change … since 2007”. 

In our view, a far more rigorous evaluation of the success of the scheme is now needed, with a 

particular emphasis on classroom outcomes and how successful the scheme is at encouraging more 

teachers to teach Welsh as a subject or teach through the medium of Welsh. 

Finally, the rationale for the National Centre for Learning Welsh to focus specifically on the public 

sector was not clear to us and needs further explanation.   

Recommendation 20.  We recommend a thorough evaluation of the Sabbatical Scheme 

looking particularly at its value for money in improving classroom outcomes and in 

encouraging more teachers to teach Welsh or in Welsh. 

  

                                                             

51 See footnote 2 
52 Committee Transcript: 2 November 2016 para 329 
53 Written Statement 25 January 2017 - Welsh Work Plan Announcement 

Page 97



47 

 Additional issues for consideration 

98. The Committee decided that the focus of this inquiry should be on education as the draft 

strategy itself identified the education system is the main way for ensuring that children can develop 

their Welsh skills, and for creating new speakers. The draft strategy also says that the need to ensure 

that there is a workforce that meets the need for Welsh-medium education and training should be the 

starting point for creating more speakers.  

99. However, other aspects of language planning were highlighted during the inquiry. The multi-

layered aspect of language planning means that a variety of activities are required on several levels in 

order to increase the number of Welsh speakers and its use day to day. 

Promoting the Welsh language 

100. The promotion of the language was raised during oral evidence sessions and in written 

submissions as an issue Welsh Government, local authorities and relevant bodies needed to grasp. 

Contributors mentioned the need to promote and market the language from a number of 

perspectives: 

 to promote and market Welsh as a skill;  

 to promote the benefits of Welsh medium education to parents; 

 to promote the benefits of the language within the workplace; and 

 to promote it within families and communities. 

101. According to Qualifications Wales, there is a need for a “powerful and consistent campaign” to 

promote the language and generate support from the public and communities. Others also shared 

similar views: 

Mudiad Meithrin 

In acknowledging the importance of the early years in terms of ‘creating’ new 

Welsh speakers, we feel that there is a need for a national campaign to promote 

these benefits among all new and prospective parents in Wales.54 

 

Flintshire County Council 

Targeted campaigns are needed to encourage Welsh speakers to take pride in 

their language skills and continue to develop their skills. 

 

Colleges Wales 

It’s time to adapt operations of some Welsh language promotion bodies – to 

engage with a new audience. 

102. According to some contributors, there may well be a need for a change in culture and mind-set 

within communities and wider civic society. A ‘different approach’ was mentioned by contributors and 

a need to market and convince communities of the benefits of learning two languages. Reaching out 

                                                             

54 See footnote 2 

Page 98



48 

to communities where the Welsh language is not considered part of the fabric of the community is 

important in changing attitudes towards the language, and making it relevant to their lives.  

103. New Welsh Language Standards now place legal duties on local authorities to promote the 

language within their own communities: 

Wrexham County Borough Council 

In line with its Welsh Language Standards the Council has produced a five-

year promotion strategy, which aims to raise the profile of the Welsh language 

in the County Borough, increase its use and encourage more people to choose 

to use the Welsh language in their everyday lives. 

Our View 

We agree that there will need to be a significant increase in the promotion and marketing of the 

language as a major plank of the strategy if it is to be successful. The focus of this work should be to 

engage local communities and help ensure people across Wales can support the aims of the strategy.  

We recommended earlier that the proposed new Agency for the Promotion of Welsh should have a 

clear focus from the outset on helping parents understand the benefits of a bilingual education.  It 

also needs to focus on promoting Welsh as a community language and the benefits it brings as a skill 

and in the workplace. In doing so it needs to work with established organisations with experience in 

this area such as the Mentrau Iaith and with local initiatives such as Tŷ’r Gwrhyd in Pontardawe.  

Recommendation 21.  We recommend that the proposed new Agency for the 

Promotion of Welsh, working with established organisations and local initiatives, 

promotes and markets Welsh as a community language with benefits to speakers as a skill 

and in the workplace. 

Welsh language skills audit 

104. Some contributors to the inquiry were of the view that there is a lack of evidence on the 

current Welsh language skills of the Welsh workforce, and that in order to build capacity across 

sectors, Welsh Government will be required to carry out a systematic audit of Welsh language skills 

across the whole workforce: 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

We believe that the process of identifying the needs of the future workforce 

should be identified and accelerated within different fields by considering the 

level and range of Welsh language and bilingual skills that will be needed in 

specific fields within a decade or more.55 

 

UCAC 

Recruiting sufficient numbers of people, and people who have the skills that we 

                                                             

55 See footnote 2 

Page 99



49 

need, to these various posts is vital. To do this effectively, detailed information 

is needed on the nature of the current workforce.56 

 

Qualifications Wales  

An important first step will be for Welsh Government to gain a full 

understanding of the current capacity and capability in relation to Welsh 

language skills across the education workforce.  This will need to drive a 

concerted programme of work to build that capacity and capability over the 

coming years. 

105. The Committee heard that even where comprehensive language skills audits are conducted, it 

does not necessarily translate into better planning. Estyn noted that all local authorities had 

undertaken a linguistic skills audit of the teaching workforce for example, but: 

Estyn  

Only a few local authorities use the evidence from the linguistic skills audit, 

when considering their school organisation projects and longer-term provision 

planning. 

106. Identifying linguistic needs of the workforce should be “accelerated”, according to Coleg 

Cymraeg Cenedlaethol. Some sectors are already proactively assessing the linguistic needs of the 

workforce, for example social work and social care.  

Care Council for Wales  

Since their introduction, degree programmes in social work have been required 

to develop their provision for social work students to be able to learn and be 

assessed through the medium of Welsh. The latter includes the need for all 

programmes to audit the Welsh language skills of students, which has enabled 

us to identify their learning and assessment needs. 

Our View 

While we accept that there is currently a lack of consistent data on the Welsh language skills of the 

workforce nationally, we are not convinced that this is a priority area. This could be an expensive and 

time consuming exercise that might deliver few tangible benefits.  In our view, it would be better to 

focus on key areas of the workforce where there is a clear prospect of better information being key to 

the delivery of the overall strategy, such as learning support staff or the early years workforce. 

Welsh for Adults 

107. During the evidence gathering process, several references were made with regard to Welsh for 

Adults, on increasing the number of adults who learn Welsh, and the work that the new Centre for 

Learning Welsh will be co-ordinating.  

                                                             

56 See footnote 2 

Page 100



50 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol  

It is important that sufficient resources are earmarked for the Centre’s work in 

order to introduce new programmes to teach Welsh in the workplace.57 

 

WLGA  

Consideration also needs to be given as to how to increase opportunities for 

adults to learn or improve their Welsh as Adult learners. 

 

Aberystwyth University  

There is scope for adopting a more comprehensive interpretation of education 

than that given in the consultation document. The tendency at the moment is to 

emphasise the statutory education sector, and as a result, the document pays 

little attention to adult education and language training in specific contexts, for 

example in the workplace.58 

108. Whilst many consider that it is important to provide adults with opportunities to learn Welsh, 

whether that is through the workplace or in their own time, the rate of success is not significant 

enough in the Committee’s view for it to be considered a central way forward in the context of the 

strategy’s aims and objectives, which is to increase significantly the number of Welsh speakers in 

Wales. For instance, the number of learners undertaking Welsh for Adults exams fell from 1,797 in 

2010 to 1,452 in 2015.59 

109. Despite cuts to the Welsh for Adult programme in recent years, even its proponents are clear in 

their view that it is predominantly through the school education system that the numbers of Welsh 

speakers required will be created: 

Popeth Cymraeg 

With the limited funds available in the field of Welsh for Adults and the fact 

that fewer than 1,000 adults cross the fluency threshold every year (the national 

figure of 15,000 of learners includes learners at every level) it is clear that the 

children’s education system is the most important route in terms of creating 

Welsh speakers.60 

110. Nevertheless, Popeth Cymraeg stressed that Welsh for Adults still has an important role to be 

play in developing adult Welsh language skills and in the promotion of the language. 

Popeth Cymraeg 

Welsh for Adults, however, can do extremely important work in terms of 

targeting specific sectors and the popularization of Welsh in general. This can 

create a domino effect with adults choosing to send their children to Welsh-

medium schools even if they aren’t fluent themselves.61 

                                                             

57 See footnote 2 
58 Ibid 
59 The Position of the Welsh Language 2012–2015: Welsh Language Commissioner's 5-year Report, page 145 
60 See footnote 2 
61 Ibid 

Page 101



51 

111. Cymdeithas yr Iaith were of the view that the targets were required for an increased number of 

adults learning Welsh over the lifespan of the strategy, with five year, ten year and even thirty year 

targets.  

 Within the next five years – Ensure Welsh for Adults is creating at least 4,000 fluent Welsh 

speakers annually. 

 Within the next ten years – Ensure Welsh for Adults is creating at least 7,000 fluent Welsh 

speakers annually. 

 Within the next twenty years – Ensure Welsh for Adults is creating at least 10,000 fluent 

Welsh speakers annually. 

 Within the next thirty years – Ensure Welsh for Adults is creating at least 13,000 fluent Welsh 

speakers annually. 

Our View 

Good quality, readily available provision for Welsh for Adults is an important part of the overall ‘eco 

system’ for increasing the number of Welsh speakers.  It is particularly important in helping to 

promote the language and in helping parents who want to become more involved in their children’s 

education. However, the rate of success may not be significant enough for it to be considered a 

central way forward in the context of the strategy’s aims and objectives.   

Recommendation 22.  We recommend that the Welsh Government continues to 

support good quality, widely available Welsh for Adults provision but considers carefully 

its relative priority within the strategy compared to other priority areas. 

Other issues 

112. A number of other themes were raised during the inquiry, but to a lesser extent, these included 

issues such as Learning Welsh in the workplace, Migration, Language rights, Leadership and culture 

Transmission, Normalisation, Confidence, and what is actually meant by ‘a Welsh speaker’. 

Our View 

The purpose of our Inquiry was to flag up at an early stage some of the key issues that need to be 

addressed in the final strategy.  Our recommendations and the main part of this report have 

concentrated on some of the obvious questions that need to be addressed.  That is not to say that the 

other issues identified above are not important or will not need to be given more detailed and 

considered thought over the lifetime of the strategy. As a Committee, we intend to return to some of 

these issues as we carry out our work during this Assembly.   

One issue does stand out for us though. That is what we mean by a ‘Welsh speaker’.  We are attracted 

to the proposition that being a Welsh speaker is not a binary state and that there is a continuum of 

language acquisition and capability. Nevertheless, if the aim of a million ‘Welsh speakers’ is to be 

meaningful, this must mean more than just the ability to say a few phrases in Welsh.  

In our view, a Welsh speaker is one who is ‘fluent’ in the sense that they can understand and hold 

conversations on most everyday subjects without effort and in a way that any other ‘Welsh speaker’ 

would find natural and engaging. However, as the starting point for the strategy seems to be the 

Page 102



52 

numbers of people reporting in the Census that they speak Welsh, then this may be the most 

consistent way of judging whether the strategy is being successful. 

What is important though is that the final strategy itself provides a clear definition of what will count 

as a Welsh speaker in evaluating in its aim of creating a million speakers. 

Recommendation 23.  We recommend that the final strategy includes a clear definition 

of what will count as a Welsh speaker in evaluating whether the strategy is successful in 

its aim of creating a million speakers. 

  

Page 103



53 

Annex A – Oral evidence sessions 

The following witnesses provided oral evidence to the Committee on the dates noted below. 

Transcripts of all oral evidence sessions can be viewed in full at: 

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=15157  

Webcasts are available at: www.senedd.tv 

Date Name and Organisation 

24 November 2016 UCAC 

NASUWT 

NAHT 

Mudiad Meithrin  

Colegau Cymru  

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 

30 November 2016 The University of Wales Trinity Saint David 

Cardiff Metropolitan University  

Education Workforce Council 

14 December 2016 Estyn 

Qualifications Wales 

WJEC 

Care Council for Wales  

Welsh Language Commissioner 

18 January 2017 Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language 

 

Stakeholder Session 

16 November 2016 A Stakeholder engagement session was held on 16 November 2016. 

 

 

  

Page 104

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=15157
http://www.senedd.tv/


54 

Annex B – Written evidence 

Evidence to the committee was received throughout the inquiry. The Committee Consultation ran 

from 3 November 2016 – 30 November 2016. The submissions to the consultation are available at:  

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=232 

Reference Name and Organisation 

WLS01 Aberystwyth University (Welsh Only) 

WLS02 ATL Cymru 

WLS03 Barry Town Council 

WLS04 Care Council Wales 

WLS05 Chris Sully 

WLS06 Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol (Welsh Only) 

WLS07 CollegesWales 

WLS08 The Association of Welsh Translators (Welsh Only) 

WLS09 Cymdeithas yr Iaith (Welsh Only) 

WLS10 Education Workforce Wales 

WLS11 Estyn 

WLS12 Dafydd Roberts (Welsh Only) 

WLS13 Glenys M Roberts (Welsh Only) 

WLS14 Huw O Jones (Welsh Only) 

WLS15 Michael Williams 

WLS16 Milford Haven Town Council 

WLS17 Mudiad Meithrin (Welsh Only) 

WLS18 One Voice Wales 

WLS19 Popeth Cymraeg (Welsh Only) 

WLS20 Qualifications Wales 

WLS21 UCAC (Welsh Only) 

WLS22 Urdd Gobaith Cymru (Welsh Only) 

WLS23 Welsh Language Commissioner (Welsh Only) 

WLS24 Welsh Local Government Association 

Page 105

http://senedd.assembly.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=232


55 

Reference Name and Organisation 

WLS25 Wrexham County Borough Council 

WLS26 Flintshire County Council 

WLS27 Swyddle 

WLS28 University of South Wales 

WLS29 Cylch yr Iaith (Welsh Only) 

  

Page 106



56 

Annex C – External evidence gathering 

Committee members visited the following schools on 8th December 2016: 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bryn Tawe 

 Bishop Gore School 

 St Richard Gwyn Roman Catholic High School 

Additional outreach work was conducted at the following schools and youth forums: 

 Bishop Gore 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bryn Tawe 

 St Richard Gwyn 

 Ysgol Maes Garmon 

 Ysgol Bodedern 

 Maes y Gwendraeth 

 Ysgol Bro Pedr 

 Carmarthenshire Youth Council 

 Caerphilly Junior Youth Forum. 

Page 107



 

 

 
 
Welsh Language Unit  
Welsh Language Division 
Education and Public Services  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park 
Cardiff CF10 3NQ 
 
UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@cymru.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 

27 September 2016 
 

Dear Sir / Madam, 
 
Gwynedd Council appreciates and is grateful for the opportunity to submit the following 
observations on the consultation document ‘A Million Welsh Speakers by 2050'.  These observations 
are submitted in a positive spirit and we hope that they will be of assistance to the Welsh Language 
Unit when drawing up the final document. 
 
 
General Observations 
We welcome the fact that the intention of this strategy is to increase the number of Welsh speakers; 
and believe that setting an ambition for the strategy is essential.  Nevertheless, setting an ambition, 
namely a target of a million speakers by 2050, is a very generalised aim and as is it located so far into 
the future, it would be completely irrelevant and something for which nobody would be 
accountable.  Also, no milestones have been set to assess progress and growth over such an 
extended period of time.  
 
The Office for National Statistics has informed us, based on existing population shift - that there will 
be more in-migrants than Welsh people living in Wales within 70 years, therefore, we question the 
significance of the million, in the context of the likely population of Wales by 2050.  In other words, if 
a million Welsh speakers is achieved, what will be the equivalent figure and percentage in terms of 
non-Welsh speakers?  Also, we must rationalise and consider the value of counting all Welsh 
'speakers' if they exist in virtual communities and voids across the world. 
 
The strategy is different to A Living Language: A Language for Living as it places much more 
emphasis on education and the growth of Welsh-medium education as the main medium for 
realising the ambition. Consequently, the document could be considered as an education strategy 
for the south-east only. This change of emphasis also undervalues the key contribution made by 
geographical areas that are the traditional strongholds of the language - areas that were given focus 
and recognition for their contribution towards maintaining the number of speakers to date in  A 
Living Language: A Language for Living. Undoubtedly, the growth of Welsh-medium education is one 
way of realising the ambition; however, there is a substantial risk from overly focussing on increasing 
numbers, without balancing that with the number who use the Welsh language every day and area 
where the density of Welsh speakers means that this is the main language of the majority of the 
residents of the community, and in turn, the language is a part of the fabric of those communities.  
Without a doubt, there is a need for linguistic planning interventions to focus on areas that continue 
to be strongholds for the Welsh language such as communities in Gwynedd and Anglesey and Uwch 

Page 107

mailto:UnedIaithGymraegWelshLanguageUnit@cymru.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

Aled in Conwy, in order to maintain the linguistic health of the communities and prevent a pattern of 
linguistic decline that is already afoot in a vast number of areas across Wales.  
 
Except for this change of emphasis in education, this strategy generally reflects what is already 
taking place in Wales in the linguistic planning field, and reflects some of those traditional fields 
where action is already being taken.  
 
The document also reflects fields that the Government's Education Department and Public Services 
are directly responsible for. This shows that the strategy fails to ensure that the Welsh language and 
responsibility for promoting the language and realising the ambition has not been main-streamed 
throughout the Government's range of work and departments, fields such as: business and the 
economy, culture and sport, health and social care, housing and regeneration, people and 
communities, and planning.  Unless these core fields are included, you will be left with an education 
strategy to be used as a mechanism to create a million Welsh speakers that does not have any 
correlation with key catalysts that contribute to that, such as employment opportunities in jobs 
where Welsh language and bilingual skills are required, housing, etc.   
 
With the exception of the strategy's ambition, the expectations noted are vague at best, and the lack 
of detail regarding the methods of measuring the impact and progress against the strategy's 
requirements and vision makes the task of ensuring that the ambition is realised very difficult.  
Considering that the document is a consultation on how to realise the ambition, one of the 
strategy's basic weaknesses is a lack of information and solid commitment that explains 'how' this 
will be achieved. Indeed, one could argue that failing to include short and medium-term milestones 
is a fundamental weakness considering the ambitious long-term targets noted in the strategy.  
Therefore, it is essential to include robust requirements and measures alongside any action plan 
created to accompany this strategy, in order to ensure that the vision is realised.  Nevertheless, what 
you actually need to achieve the ambition of a million speakers by 2050 is nothing short of a 
revolution!  
At present, there is no basis to the Strategy's number planning projections and this leads to the 
conclusion that the target of a million Welsh speakers is not valid or achievable.   Furthermore, in 
light of the linguistic findings of the 2011 Census, where a drop was seen in the numbers and 
percentages of Welsh speakers, and the failure to achieve a number of targets of Iaith Pawb; it is fair 
to ask on what grounds was such an ambitious target for the future set?  
 
Development field 1:  Planning and language policy  
It is acknowledged that main-streaming is essential, and key in terms of Welsh-language promotion 
as it is an incredibly effective way of rooting linguistic planning as an integral part of plans, policies 
and strategies; however, it is acknowledged that this is not the only means of linguistic planning.   
 
Although there are opportunities available to disseminate the message about the Welsh language 
and take advantage of a broader workforce to promote the language, there is an obvious risk with 
main-streaming also, as the Welsh language will be secondary to the main work of any occupation 
that the Welsh language is main-streamed into; e.g. midwifery, health visitors, Flying Start and 
Families First schemes.   
 
One of the consistent messages heard from discussions with professionals and community 
representatives when drawing up the Gwynedd Language Strategy 2014-2017 was the importance of 
the relationship between the economy, housing and the Welsh language. Welsh Government, 
through its policy guidance in the fields of the economy, planning and housing, has a key role to play 
when promoting the Welsh language and to mainstream the language to national plans. However, 
from some of the major economic programmes in the past, such as Objective 1 and Convergence it 

Page 108



 

 

appears that the Government at the time was not progressive to give a central place to the Welsh 
language in these fields.  In order to realise the target of a million Welsh speakers, it must be 
ensured that similar opportunities in the future are not lost. 
 
In order to ensure the success of the main-streaming, there is a need to set clear expectations and 
ensure a robust accountability procedure in order to ensure that the Welsh language is central to 
every development, project and programme. The inclusion of clauses such as 'consideration to the 
Welsh language', and 'influence' do not provide a sufficiently robust vision and guidance for the 
strategy, and leads to ambiguous expectations, and provides an open door for people not to give the 
Welsh language a central place, and undermines the challenging and firm ambition of reaching a 
million speakers by 2050.     
 
Continuing to undertake and commission quality comprehensive research to increase our 
understanding of factors that influence the Welsh language is key, and there is a need to ensure 
substantial investment in this field in order to ensure that the interventions implemented are fit for 
purpose.  
 
 
Development field 2:  Normalisation  
We welcome the vision where the Welsh language is a completely normal part of everyday life, and 
that there is goodwill towards the language and a will to use the language. Nevertheless, the steps 
intended to take towards realising the vision in this section are very vague, and it could be argued 
that those elements relating to accessing and using Welsh-medium services would tie-in better in 
development field 6:  Rights, as the availability of Welsh-medium services, the right to Welsh-
medium services, and the use made of them go hand in hand. It could also be argued that 
normalisation is a horizontal theme or aim, rather than a development field.  
 
We welcome the intention and commitment to gain a better understanding of what influences 
linguistic attitudes and choices, and initially focus on linguistic identity and the psychology of using 
the Welsh language.   Gwynedd is offered as a relevant and interesting sample for this research.   
 
In addition, evidence-based linguistic planning is extremely important in the current climate where 
we are required to prioritise our efforts on those things which will make a real difference to the 
situation of the Welsh language and the use made of the language.  
 
 
 
Development field 3:  Education  
The proposal to strengthen strategic planning processes for each education and training stage in 
order to ensure growth in Welsh-medium education is welcomed. Nevertheless, reference should 
also be made to bilingual education in this context, in order to acknowledge the value of an 
education policy such as Gwynedd's policy which has the following aim: 'ensure that all of the 
County’s pupils have well-balanced and age-appropriate bilingual skills to enable them to be full 
members of the bilingual society of which they are part.’ Indeed, should this not ultimately be the 
objective of this part of the strategy?  
 
We also welcome the proposal to move away from the concept of 'second-language', and in order to 
realise that in the areas considered to be strongholds of the Welsh language, it is essential to ensure 
commitment to substantial investment in immersion plans, and a provision for latecomers in the 
primary and secondary sectors.  This will be essential in order to achieve the aim of ensuring an 
increase in the number of Welsh speakers, and ensure that the existing provision is not weakened by 

Page 109



 

 

inward migration, which, according to the Office for National Statistics, will increase over the 
lifespan of this Strategy and beyond.  
 
In terms of developing a new Curriculum for Wales, and embedding some of the essential 
components of the Language Charter firmly in that Curriculum, it is integral that language awareness 
for all education stages becomes a core part of the new curriculum. The best way of achieving this 
would be through the medium of the Literacy Framework; global citizenship; PSE; or the Welsh 
Baccalaureate.  
 
Ensuring a Welsh-medium and bilingual provision in itself will not lead to the necessary growth in 
numbers who follow Welsh-medium courses. Consequently, a comprehensive plan will be needed to 
encourage learners to follow Welsh-medium and bilingual courses; in particular in Further Education 
and Higher Education, similar to the bursaries offered by Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol and some 
Universities, to ensure appropriate linguistic continuity through the whole education and training 
system.   
 
This would be a means of overturning the trend of a substantial drop in the numbers who follow 
Welsh-medium and bilingual courses between each key stage, and onwards to further and higher 
education. It is felt that there is a need to ensure that further and higher education are included as a 
key part of the commitments made in this section. The availability of Welsh-medium and bilingual 
vocational courses is key in order to normalise the Welsh language and ensure a natural Welsh and 
bilingual path from education to employment. This should also be linked with employment, training, 
apprenticeships and employability in order to plan a chain of linguistic continuity from statutory 
education to employment that will subsequently further influence the language of adults, who will, 
in turn, become parents themselves. In this context, there is ambiguity regarding how Welsh 
Government intends to realise its objective of improving continuity rates, in particular in the 
following context: 'Develop innovative opportunities to enable new speakers to become confident to 
use Welsh in the workplace, socially and in the home.'  
 
There is a need to include targets and a detailed timetable to realise this, if Welsh Government is 
serious about achieving the ambition of a million speakers by 2050. In terms of methods to measure 
the impact of that, the following measures are suggested as a starting point:  

- Number of Welsh-medium and bilingual schools  
- Number and % of learners receiving Welsh-medium and bilingual education  
- Number and % of Yr2 learners being assessed in the medium of Welsh  
- Number and % of learners following Welsh-medium and bilingual courses in the secondary 

sector  
- Number and % of learners following Welsh-medium and bilingual further education courses 
- Number and % of learners following Welsh-medium and bilingual higher education courses  

 
In terms of encouraging young people to use the Welsh language in informal and social situations, 
we appreciate the Government's commitment and investment in disseminating the Language 
Charter nationally - a plan that was originally developed for Gwynedd schools. We are incredibly 
proud of this relationship with Welsh Government and are confident that the commitment will 
continue, as the contribution of the Language Charter is key in the challenge of converting speakers 
who receive a Welsh-medium/bilingual education into speakers.   
 
Nevertheless, it could be argued that the objective noted in this part of the strategy is restricted to 
education establishments and, despite ensuring that the investment in education creates speakers, 
it is key that Leisure Centres, youth provisions and sports clubs similarly become a part of this 

Page 110



 

 

strategy. This raises a broader question regarding the relationship of this strategy with the 
requirement on Local Authorities themselves to draw up Welsh language promotion strategies.   
 
In addition, with a number of Local Authorities externalising services such as leisure and youth 
services and the ambiguity regarding whether or not the trusts established for this purpose are 
covered under the Language Standards, it has never been so important to ensure that these fields, 
which are so influential in terms of the informal language of children and young people, are included 
in the strategy and that they are accountable for that. In this context, the Language Initiatives have a 
key role to play on a county, regional and national level also.  
 
 
Development field 4: People 
It is believed that this section should include a greater focus on the role of parents and the family as 
a key sphere for language transfer.   
 
According to the 2011 Census, it was seen that 90% of 3-4 year olds in Gwynedd could speak Welsh 
when two parents speak Welsh in the home. This percentage drops to 82% in the homes where a 
single parent speaks Welsh; and drops further to 63% when only one of the two parents speaks 
Welsh; there is a further drop to 35% in homes where there are no Welsh speakers at all. The above-
mentioned percentages conveys the need for direct and substantial intervention in language 
transfer in areas that are Welsh language strongholds, such as Gwynedd.     
 
Despite the proposal to main-stream elements of TWF's work field to midwives and health visitors; 
there are further opportunities to influence language transfer in the field of child care and as part of 
national programmes such as Flying Start and Families First, as well as a part of an education system 
that targets prospective parents. It must be ensured that Welsh language promotion and messages 
about the advantages of bringing up children bilingually are embedded as the core responsibility of 
these intervention programmes, coupled with methods of measuring this work.    
To this end, language transfer rates in areas such as Gwynedd also convey the greatest potential to 
increase the number of speakers, as households with one of two parents speaking Welsh, and 
households with a Welsh-speaking single parent already possessing Welsh language skills, choose 
not to use the language. There is a key role for the Language Initiative (in the absence of TWF and 
Cymraeg i Blant) to plan specific intervention in response to this.  
 
 
It is acknowledged that what is now considered as a 'community' has changed, evolved and that it is 
a difficult concept to define; however, we must not underestimate the value and significance of a 
'geographical' community that brings people together through the medium of Welsh. This is where 
the foundations of Welsh speakers' identities and values are set, where community leaders are 
nurtured, and where Welsh speakers are empowered to offer a range of activities and modern and 
attractive events that normalise the Welsh language in an informal and pleasant context. In other 
words, live life mainly through the medium of Welsh.  
 
Also of significance to a 'geographical' community that is essential to the viability of the language is 
the fabric of the Welsh language community that is located in the language's strongholds across 
Wales. A high number of Welsh speakers are produced in these areas; and in turn, this has been 
responsible for the growth in the number of speakers in other areas of Wales, such as Cardiff. The 
importance of these areas - which was so apparent in  A Living Language: A Language for Living - has 
been completely lost in the new strategy. One cannot overstate the utmost importance of the Welsh 
language strongholds in order to ensure the viability of the language in the future. To reiterate this, 
a number of worldwide linguistic planning experts acknowledge the significance of communities 

Page 111



 

 

where over 70% of the population speaks the language. This is the reason why we believe that this 
Strategy needs to set targets, a focus and emphasis on appropriate and balanced linguistic planning 
in these communities in Gwynedd, Anglesey and Conwy with the Language Initiatives acting as a 
strategic lead and co-ordinator of linguistic interventions at grass-roots level.  
 
A specific strategy and substantial investment is therefore needed to maintain and strengthen the 
strongholds as areas that act as a catalyst for the growth of the Welsh language across Wales. To this 
end, every department within the Government will need to acknowledge the particular significance 
of these areas and prove how any schemes they have will affect the strongholds and the Welsh 
language. To achieve this, we believe that 70%+ communities should be designated as areas of 
special linguistic significance.  
 
 
Development field 5: Support 
We welcome the Government's proposal to invest, develop and influence in order to ensure a firm 
infrastructure for the Welsh language in the fields of corpora, dictionaries and terminology 
resources, along with technological and digital developments to ensure the availability of various 
and relevant Welsh language mediums.   
 
It is very important that the Welsh language is a part of new technological development and that 
there is room for the Welsh language in these developments. This is extremely important in terms of 
influencing the psychology of children and young people and their use of the Welsh language, and is 
a way of making the language relevant to all life contexts.  
 
However, further information is required regarding the steps intended to be taken in the short, 
medium and long-term to realise this, along with the level of investment in order to achieve the aim, 
and the measuring methods that will be in place and who will be responsible for its delivery.   
 
 
Development field 6: Rights 
Gwynedd Council is an organisation that already embraces the Welsh language and the impact of its 
language policy in terms of its internal administration is far-reaching. As a result of the policy, the 
Welsh language has been normalised as a natural working medium, and enables thousands of staff 
members to work through the medium of Welsh every day. The side effect of this is that the 
majority of the county's residents now contact the Council through the medium of Welsh completely 
naturally, and the influence of the Council as an employer can be seen in the growth of Welsh 
communities such as Llanrug.   
 
This is proof indeed that the ambition cannot be realised through legislation and rights alone, but 
rather through commitment, a strong political vision and bravery, as was experienced when 
implementing Gwynedd's language policy since 1996, and previously in Dwyfor District Council.  
Disseminating this language policy to other counties is what is likely to achieve Welsh Government's 
ambition of creating a million speakers by 2050. After all, in Gwynedd, we have the rare opportunity 
of being able to profess and make more comprehensive and regular use of the range of Welsh 
language skills (speaking, reading and understanding written Welsh) from the cradle to the grave.   
 
Ensuring real opportunities for as many people as possible to be able to live and work through the 
medium of Welsh is the way to realise the ambition of a million speakers by 2050. This means, 
within the next 5 years, that Local Authorities in the North and west, Anglesey, Conwy, Ceredigion, 
Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire need to commence the process of planning, adopting and 

Page 112



 

 

implementing a policy that notes that the Welsh language will be the internal administrative 
language of the organisation.  
 
 
There is a risk for the existing standards system to become burdensome in terms of its 
administration with nothing added to the user's experience, and that they will not encourage 
compliance through a regulatory process alone. Encouragement and promotion is needed to achieve 
the aim. Therefore, we agree with the need to develop a better balance between promotion, 
legislation and regulatory, providing clarity regarding the roles of key stakeholders. However, it is 
unlikely that achieving this will directly contribute towards reaching the million. A specific and 
comprehensive strategy is required to support and empower people to feel confident to use the 
Welsh language when accessing services, that the experience and availability of those services 
encourages and facilitates the use made of the Welsh language, and in turn, that this becomes 
something completely natural. This cannot be realised without planning and delivering a purposeful 
bilingual public sector workforce.   
 
No reference is made to the private sector and third sector in the strategy and this may be the most 
suitable place to include them. Indeed, businesses need to be encouraged to be proactive in 
developing the use of the Welsh language, and clarity is needed regarding the roles of the 
Commissioner, the Government, the Language Initiatives and business support agencies in this 
respect.   
 
Indeed, seeing businesses making visual use of the Welsh language is a way of rooting key messages 
about the Welsh language and its value in the subconscious, and thus influence people’s psychology 
regarding the language. However; people's ability to engage with each other at work, with 
colleagues or customers, through the medium of Welsh is of key importance to the ambition.  
 
To this end, more opportunities are needed for those who are able to speak Welsh to use it at work - 
in their engagement with each other, their customers and with their employers. We spend a very 
large percentage of our lives in the workplace, therefore, opportunities to use the Welsh language at 
work are extremely important, and it is unlikely that giving the individual an opportunity to do that 
in itself, will achieve the aim. There is a need to develop Welsh language workplaces, Welsh 
language internal administration and normalise the Welsh language in the workplace. Enabling the 
workforce to use the Welsh language at work (and not through rights alone), will lead to an increase 
in the general use made of the Welsh language. In this context also, there is a need to increase 
awareness of the Welsh language as a skill and increase the workforce’s pride of the skills they have 
in the Welsh language. Therefore, having linguistic Skills Strategies that will plan and create a 
bilingual workforce that will be able to provide services for the public in accordance with the 
statutory language standards will be integral. We know that this is not currently the case as the 
majority of public bodies have an insufficient supply of bilingual staff to provide Welsh-medium 
services.  
 
In the current economic climate, which will unavoidably lead to an increase in commissioning 
services from the public sector, and less provision of services directly, it is extremely important that 
the private sector locally and nationally in Wales can and have to respond positively to the 
increasing demand for some services, but also that they can provide those services wholly through 
the medium of Welsh.  
 
Similar to the private sector, there will be opportunities for the third sector to benefit from 
outsourcing some public services and there will be a need to identify the key players in this context, 
and to work closely with them to enable them to deliver services through the medium of Welsh over 

Page 113



 

 

a period of time. Nevertheless, the procurement culture and expectations in terms of following 
linguistic requirements has existed since the Welsh Language Act 1993 but that there is still room for 
improvement to improve the supply of Welsh language services that are externalised to these 
sectors. This is why there is a need to emphasise the role and contribution of both sectors - as an 
employer and service provider - within this Strategy.  
 
 
Section 5 - Action in the short-term: the first five years  
It is acknowledged that the education system and ensuring that the Welsh-medium and bilingual 
education provision is extended is one method of increasing the numbers of people who are able to 
speak Welsh. However, the education system alone is unlikely to produce speakers, as stated in Iaith 
Pawb previously:  A language which is confined to the educational sector is not a living language1  
 
Consequently, the Welsh language must be rooted in the communities around every Welsh-medium 
and bilingual school across Wales in order to ensure sufficient opportunities to turn the learners of 
the education system into speakers, and take advantage of intensive social and community 
opportunities to use the Welsh language beyond school. Again, this is a key role for the Language 
Initiatives and other partners across Wales and a comprehensive strategy and investment is needed 
to achieve this, in order to ensure that the substantial investment in Welsh-medium education bears 
fruit and realises the aim of producing additional skilled Welsh speakers, who can then contribute to 
realising the ambition of reaching a million speakers by 2050.  
 
We welcome the reference to extending the Language Charter to schools across Wales as a medium 
to support the Welsh-medium/bilingual education system to produce Welsh speakers. Methods of 
measuring the impact of the Charter's intervention by means of the language web produces annual 
data about the attitudes and use of language of children and young people across Wales. Therefore, 
the language web will be an important tool over the next five years (and beyond) as a way of 
measuring the likelihood of realising the ambition of a million speakers by 2050.  However, as we are 
aware, a substantial number of people leave the Welsh language behind as they leave school at 16 
and so, failing to include further and higher education and employment within the strategy leaves it 
incomplete.  
 
 
Welsh Government has certainly set the challenge of reaching a million speakers by the middle of 
the century. The greatest challenge for the Government (and for us all), is how this will be realised, 
and ensure that it is realised.  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit these observations on the Strategy: A million Welsh 
speakers by 2050. Hopefully they will be useful as you draw up the final document. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
Dyfrig Siencyn 
Deputy Council Leader 
 
 

                                                           

1 Iaith Pawb: A National Action Plan for a Bilingual Wales, Welsh Assembly Government 2003.  

Page 114


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES
	8 THE LANGUAGE COMMITTEE'S REMIT
	9 THE CORPORATE COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE
	10 GWYNEDD COUNCIL ANNUAL REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WELSH LANGUAGE STANDARDS
	Appendix - Report on the Implementation of the Welsh Language Standards 2016-17

	11 ACHIEVING THE AMBITION - INQUIRY INTO THE WELSH GOVERNMENT'S NEW WELSH LANGUAGE STRATEGY
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Document
	JO Welsh Gov Welsh Language Strategy- Final (e).pdf
	Foreword
	Recommendations
	01.  The draft strategy
	02.  Targets and Milestones
	03.  Emphasis of Strategy
	04.  Workforce Planning
	05.  Financial resource
	06.  Early years provision
	07.  Statutory Education Provision
	08.  Progression
	09.  Upskilling and Training
	10.  Additional issues for consideration
	Annex A – Oral evidence sessions
	Annex B – Written evidence
	Annex C – External evidence gathering


	Appendix 2 - The (then) Deputy Council Leader's Draft Response to the Consultation Document on Behalf of the Council




